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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to announce
the audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2018 (the “Year”).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Results

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Year”), the Group
recorded gross proceeds from disposal of securities of
approximately HK$295.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 17.8%, as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$358.9 million for the last year. The Group recorded in revenue
of approximately HK$0.9 million, representing an increase of
approximately 50.0% as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$0.6 million for the last year. The Company recorded a loss
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year amounted
to approximately HK$1,041.7 million (2017: profit of approximately
HK$355.8 million). The audited consolidated net assets of the
Group as at 31 March 2018 amounted to approximately HK$409.1
million (2017: approximately HK$1,439.5 million). The net asset
per share of the Group was amounted to approximately HK$0.18
(2017: approximately HK$0.64). The decrease in net asset value
per share of the Company over the Year was principally resulted
from the total comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the
Company for the Year of approximately HK$1,032.3 million.

The Group’s performance changed from net profit approximately
HK$355.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 to net loss
approximately HK$1,041.7 million for the Year mainly attributable
to the net effect of the change in the performance of listed
investments from profit of approximately HK$476.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2017 to loss of approximately HK$1,106.2
million, the decrease in impairment loss of available-for-sale
investments from HK$24.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2017 to HK$10.0 million, and the change of income tax from
income tax expense of approximately HK$80.7 million for the
year ended 31 March 2017 to income tax credit of approximately
HK$86.5 million for the Year.

TEERESEARAR ([AARDKEMBRR
(R IAEEDEX (B ([EF€)MAR
HAEERBE_T-—NF=A=+—HLFE (X
FEZEEGRAFE-

EEENRRIN

MBS
BHEZZ-N\F=ZA=+—-BHLEFE(XEFE]) "
RNEERE HEZ SIS KB HF£295,100,0007%5
JL B K F 49358,900,00058 TR D £917.8% ° AN &
8% 15 W = 47900,0007% 7T * 8 A 4 49600,000/% 7T
HN#H50.0% - RAFE KRB BEARAREE A
JE 15 /5 18 491,041,700,0008 T (ZF — £ F - im M4
355,800,000 ) c AKBR =T —-—NF=A=+—
H M & T iz A & EF{EE 49409,100,0008 T (==
—-E 4 1 491,439,500,0008 0 ) - N EF R E EFE
BH018B T (ZT—tF  #0.64E7T) - RAFE
RABBREEFERSEZRAABAAGIEE AEMN
RNEE2HEFM S HFE41,032,300,0008 7T

AREBPUBERRABEZE _T—+tF A=+ —ALF
€ 2 4 7 #7355,800,000/8 T A A EE 2 B8 F
#71,041,700,0008 0 T EZFAR/RU T2 FHE: LW
BRERBHEBEE-_T—+HF-A=-+—HLEFEZH
F%)476,100,000% 7T /% E5 45 491,106,200,0007% 7T -
AEHEREREBERBEE T —+tF=A=1+—
H Ik 4 £ 224,000,0005% 7T 2> 210,000,000 7T LA
kB HREAEE T —+tF=A=+—BLFEZA
1S % 980,700,000 T AAFE ZFTSTHIKE
#786,500,0007%8 T °



Annual R rt
2017/18 2 £p°$&

STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Investment Review
As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s major investments were as

follows:
Investments Description
RE Bt

Listed equities

EWmRA

Direct investment in unlisted equities

RIEETRAZEERE
Total HK$281.5 million
&t 281,500,000/% 7T

Included in the direct investment in unlisted equities as at
31 March 2018 was the Group’s investment in 15% equity of
Amuse Group Holding Limited (“Amuse Group”) at cost of HK$9.0
million. Subsequently in May 2018, the shares of Amuse Group
were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange and its stock code is
8545. Upon listing, the Group holds 112,500,000 shares or 11.25%
equity of Amuse Group.

The investment portfolio as at 31 March 2018 of the Group
mainly comprises of unlisted securities and listed securities in
Hong Kong and China. The investment portfolio of the Company
is of approximately HK$281.5 million. As a whole, the portfolio
was carefully managed and being fully diversified to minimise
commercial risk resulting from over concentration of the investment
of the Group in any single industry.

Price Risk

The Group is exposed to financial assets price risks as
investments held by the Group are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial assets held for trading
and available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets. To manage its
price risk arising from investments in financial assets, the Group
diversifies its portfolio. If the financial assets price of the respective
investments held by the Group as financial assets held for trading
were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March 2018, the Group’s
loss for the year would decrease or increase by approximately
HK$7.5 million (2017: HK$54.5 million) respectively. If the price
of the investments held by the Group as AFS financial assets
were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March 2018 (2017: 5%), the
Group’s equity as at 31 March 2018 would decrease or increase by
approximately HK$5.1 million (2017: HK$6.6 million) respectively.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Prospects

We expect the global market will continue to face greater
challenges and full of uncertainty, developed economies are
beginning to have signs of recovery, but the developing economies
also have trends of adjustment. Meanwhile, China is also facing a
slowdown in economic growth, economic structure has undergone
significant changes during the transition from medium to long term,
crisis and opportunities coexist.

The Directors will continue to take a prudent approach in
managing the Group’s investment portfolio and develop the
investment strategies. Given the increasing influence of China
against the global economy, the Group will still be based mainly on
Chinese economy, the Group will continue to look for investment
opportunities which offer outstanding returns under the acceptable
risk in the portfolio of the Group.

The Company would consider investing in certain unlisted
securities and listed securities with high potential in order to
diversify further market risk.

Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final
dividend.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had margin payables to financial
institutions of approximately HK$7.0 million (2017: HK$55.2
million). The Group had bank balances and cash on hand of
approximately HK$35.4 million (2017: HK$23.8 million), which was
mainly placed in bank and other financial institutions as deposits.
As the Group held listed securities of approximately HK$180.5
million as at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$1,305.4 million), which is
around 25.8 times (2017: 23.6 times) of the margin payable value,
the Board consider the Company’s liquidity position is still healthy
as at 31 March 2018.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Gearing Ratio
The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/total
equity) was 1.7% (2017: 3.8%).

Capital Structure

The Group did not run any capital exercise and no share option
was exercised during the Year. The total number of issued share
capital maintain at 2,257,666,000 shares during the Year.

Significant Investments

Significant investments of the Group are included in the Group’s
top ten investments as detailed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company does not
have any significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

Employees

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group had retained ten
employees (2017: ten employees). Total staff costs of the Group,
excluding directors’ remuneration, for the year under review
amounted to approximately HK$1.4 million (2017: approximately
HK$2.7 million). Staff remuneration packages were in line with the
prevailing market practice and were determined on the basis of the
performance and experience of individual employee.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has pledged listed securities of
approximately HK$37.5 million (2017: HK$271.9 million) to secure
the margin payables of approximately HK$7.0 million (2017:
HK$55.2 million). The Group did not have significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises
from its investments in companies located in the PRC, which
are financed internally. In order to mitigate the potential impact
of currency fluctuations, the Group closely monitors its foreign
currency exposures and will use suitable hedging instruments
against significant foreign currency exposures, where necessary.
No foreign currency hedge contract was entered into by the
Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2018, the Group had no
outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2017: Nil).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group
and within the knowledge of its directors, the board of directors
confirms that the Group has complied with the public float
requirement of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March
2018.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF

SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2018, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2018, including the accounting principles and accounting practices
adopted by the Company, and discussed matters relating to
auditing, risk management, internal controls, financial reporting,
the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon

and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin.

By Order of the Board
China Investment and Finance Group Limited

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEMT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 54, was appointed
as an executive Director on 8 March 2011. He is one of the
responsible officers of China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited.
Mr. Chan is currently a licensed person to carry out type 1
(dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts),
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of
Business Administration of the University of South Florida in the
United States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in
securities, fund management, corporate management, corporate
finance and managing listed investment companies under Chapter
21 of the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Chan is currently executive director of each of China Innovation
Investment Limited (stock code: 1217), Bingo Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8220), China Investment Development Limited
(stock code: 204), Capital VC Limited (stock code: 2324), China
New Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80) and China Trends
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8171). All these companies are
listed on either the main board or GEM of the Stock Exchange.
In addition, Mr. Chan is an executive director of Alpha Returns
Group PLC, an investment company listed on AIM of London Stock
Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEMT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIAO Jintian (“Mr. Liao”), aged 49, has been a non-executive
Director since 23 March 2012. Mr. Liao is a council member of the
China National Furniture Association ( FBIZX B ) , an executive
committee member of Shunde Gong Shan Lian (JBfEZ T8t (42
<€) ), a vice-president of Shunde Furniture Association ( JEf=
REWE), a vice-president of Shunde Longjiang Chamber (JI&
28I g ) and a director of the Longjiang Charity Association.
Mr. Liao is also the executive director and legal representative
of Guangdong Xie Feng Financial Guarantee Co., Ltd. (EE& %
LEEEMRABR LA, the chairman and legal representative of
Guangdong Jingongzi Trading and Economic Development Co.,
Lid. (ERE A FLEERABMRAA) . Mr. Liao has over 15 years
of experience in wide scope of businesses including trading,
finance, property development and project investment.

Mr. WU Qi (“Mr. Wu”), aged 34, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 3 July 2015. He is a famous securities analyst in China.
He has many years’ solid experience in the financial industries.
He has often been interviewed by many Chinese media and has
been invited by a number of financial programs as a guest. He is
also a financial columnist of sina.com, yicai.com and other famous
websites. Mr. Wu specializes in the stock market analysis and his
choice of stocks also has outstanding insights.

Mr. FONG On Shek (“Mr. Fong”), aged 73, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 19 July 2017. He has
over 20 years’ solid experience in senior management positions in
various industries.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEMT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUK Simon (“Mr. Luk”), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 July 2014. He is a
responsible officer for the regulated activities of asset management
(Type 9) under the Securities and Futures Ordinance since 2003.
Mr. Luk has over 10 years’ experience in asset management and
investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various investment advising
companies.

Since November 2016, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of
Qianhai Capital Asia Limited. During the periods from July 2014
to November 2016 and from February 2011 to November 2013,
Mr. Luk was a responsible officer of W. Falcon Asset Management
(Asia) Limited and Capital Focus Asset Management Limited
respectively. Before that, Mr. Luk was a founder and responsible
officer of Money Concepts (Asia) Ltd. During the period of 2000 to
2009, Mr. Luk managed various funds and private equity portfolios.
Mr. Luk was appointed as a non-executive director of Shaanxi
Northwest New Technology Industry Company Limited (Stock
code: 8258) since September 2012 until 12 August 2014. Mr. Luk
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Infinity
Development Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 640) since
November 2013.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin (“Ms. Liu”), aged 33, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. She is
currently the assistant to the general manager of a China based
investment company. She has over 5 years solid investment and
management experience.

Mr. HON Leung (“Mr. Hon”), aged 35, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 November 2015. He is
the founder of William Hon & Co, and a certified public accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong, with 10 years of professional practice
experience. He possess solid finance and accounting knowledge.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of FY
Financial (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8452).
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The Board presents their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of subsidiaries are securities trading and
investment holding.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group’s turnover
and results were mainly derived from the interest income and
dividend income from investment holding. The directors consider
that these activities constitute one and the only business segment
since these transactions are subject to common risks and returns.
The management monitors the operating results of its business
for the purpose of making decision about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Given the nature of the Group’s
operation is investment holding, it is not considered meaningful to
provide a business segment analysis of operating losses. Details of
the segment information are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s operation is investment holding, there was
no information regarding major customers and suppliers as
determined by the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 and
the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 45 to 48 and page
118. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the years ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Group during the
year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved
and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general
meeting held on 29 August 2013 (the “Option Scheme”), unless
otherwise cancelled or amended subject to resolution passed at
general meeting of the Company the Option Scheme will remain in
force for ten years from 29 August 2013. As at 31 March 2018, the
remaining life of the Option Scheme was approximately 5 years
and 5 months.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provided incentive or
reward to Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employees of the Group (including any directors,
whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any Subsidiary) and any distributor,
contractor, business partner, promoter, service provider, customer,
supplier, consultant, agent and adviser or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group eligible for Options under the Option Scheme.

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s shareholders,
(i) the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each Participant under the Option Scheme (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company subject to
options granted during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue for any time being.
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Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or substantive
shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company, or any of their respective associates under the
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive directors or shareholders of the
Company as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant shall not (i) exceed 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue on the date of such grant;
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be accepted
by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-one days
from the date of such offer or such shorter period as the Board
may from time to time determine. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s TREVNARRANRAFEER 2 B EE
share options during the year:
Granted Exercised Lapsed
Exercise Outstanding during during during Outstanding
Category Date of grant  Exercisable period price  at 1.4.2017 the year the year the year at 31.3.2018
R-B-t%§ RZZ-N\f
WA - AR =ZR=t+-AR
55l REAH TEH THE 18 *EEARE FEEATE FEERLN tef R AT
HK$
B
Advisors 28.12.2016 28.12.2016 - 27.12.2017 0.2162 188,000,000 - - (188,000,000) -
B —TRF “Z-RE¥TZA
+-A “+tABE-E—+F
—tAR +ZAZ++H
9.11.2017 9.11.2017 - 8.11.2019 0.0850 - 225,000,000 - - 225,000,000
Tt “Z—tE+-ANEE
+—AhA “Z-AFT-ANE
Total 188,000,000 225,000,000 - (188,000,000) 225,000,000
@t

Up to the date of this Annual Report, 225,000,000 Options are
still outstanding. There were 766,600 Shares, representing
approximately 0.03% of the total issued share capital of the
Company, available for issue under the Option Scheme as at the
date of this Annual Report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
113 of this report and other details of the reserves of the Group is
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association and a statutory solvency test. The Articles
of Association provide that an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company is required for any distribution out
of the share premium account. The Company’s reserves available
for distribution comprise the share premium, accumulated profits
and valuation reserve derived from the available-for-sale financial
assets. In the opinion of the Board, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to the shareholders at 31 March 2018
were approximately HK$275,641,000.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LIAO Jintian

Mr. WU Qi

Mr. FONG On Shek (appointed on 19 July 2017)
Ms. LEE Kar Ying (resigned on 30 June 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung

No director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. LUK Simon, Ms. LIU Xiaoyin and Mr. HON Leung
shall retire by rotation. All retiring Directors being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiary
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) when this report prepared by the directors is approved in
accordance with section 391 of the Companies Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executives in the ordinary shares and
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ”) (including interest which they are deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO)), as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:
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Number of shares

vl 4=
Approximate
percentage of
Name of Director Personal interest Corporate interest Total shareholding
BExpns B AR NRER &t REBANEDIE
Mr. LIAO Jintian 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 0.22%

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief
executives had any interests in equity or debt securities of the
Company or of any of its associated corporations which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notifiable to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2018, to the best knowledge of the Board and
chief executives of the Company, the following persons (other than
any directors or chief executive of the Company) were substantial
shareholders of the Company and had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

TERBRTEEERE (LEB)ARATA
TREEEEER (LB)ARAA

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of
any other person (other than directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or a short position in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO as at 31 March 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, with deviations from
Provisions A.2.1, A.4.1 and A.6.7 of the Code.
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180,000,000 7.97%

BREXRBEN RZZ-NF=ZA=+—H KR
ATREMSEEMEMAL (RRAZESHEE
TBABRINRARG RN MABEKROFHESRCD &
AMBEBEESRBERIIEIBKRAFEZELMAZ
EEIRE °

_ﬁ__\%#&:\‘é\
RARABIRBE-_ZT—N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE—HE
<7 B 32 T 3% %Lm%ﬁﬁu(Fﬁm%ﬁ,ﬁﬁJJ)Wﬁ%erﬁﬁ%t
EERTR ([5FR)]) - HEFRIEA2.1E FA4A
& % 5B A.6.71875 FTim B



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Company’s
directors or members of its management to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors are subject to review and
recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration Committee and
then fixed by the Board with the authorisation of the shareholders
at a general meeting.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group and
within the knowledge of its directors, the Company has complied
with the public float requirement of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF

SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2018, neither the Group nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair Review of the Company’s Business and Likely
Future Development

Please refer to “Statement from the Management” on pages 4 to 8.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the
Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-corruption
practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty, integrity
and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by all
employees of the Group at all times. As such, it is the Group’s
policy that employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any
advantage for themselves or others, from any person, company or
organisations having business dealings with the Group.

Company’s Key Relationships with its Employees

We consider our employees an important asset of the Company.
We strive to provide a fair and respectful working environment to
our employees.

In selecting our employees and board members, the Company
considers the experience, knowledge and background of the
individual that can contribute to the diversity and caliber of the
Company.

We encourage the staff to take seminars and other activities
related to the Company’s business. We adopt a five-day workweek
and encourage our employees to have a good balance among
health, work and social or family activities.
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Community Involvement and Contribution

The Company pursues sustainable development of the community
by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits
to the local communities. We supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to participate in
volunteer work.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
on pages 13 to 15 and note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Group’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to the existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Details of the five years financial summary in relation to the
Group’s results and assets and liabilities are set out in page 120.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. Elite
Partners CPA Limited retires, and being eligible, offers itself for
reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of Elite Partners
CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The Company recognises that good corporate governance
standards maintained throughout the Group serve as an effective
risk management tool for the Company. The board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) is committed to lead the Group growing
in an efficient manner followed by corporate missions in terms
of business strategies and improved operational planning and
procedures which are enforced under high corporate governance
standard.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, with deviations from
Provisions A.2.1, A.4.1 and A.6.7 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in the process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company as soon as
practicable.

Pursuant to Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
None of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term. Since all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
according to the provisions under article 88 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

Pursuant to Provision A.6.7 of the Code, independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should
attend general meetings. Certain independent non-executive
Directors and non-executive Directors could not attend the annual
general meeting held in the year ended 31 March 2018 due to
other business commitments.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Group. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Group confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board of the Group is collectively responsible for overseeing
the management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing shareholders value. The Board comprises
a total of seven Directors, with one executive Director, three
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as at 31 March 2018. One of the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. HON Leung, has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting pursuant to Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Group is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. All
Directors have access to the company secretary for advice on the
board procedures and regulatory matters. Any Director may take
independent professional advice if they so wish at the expense of
the Group, as arranged by the company secretary.
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Function

In view of the simple structure of the Group, all significant decision
making is carried out by the executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board while the day-to-day investment decision is based on
the professional recommendation of the investment manager.

None of the existing non-executive Directors of the Group is
appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from
the code provision A.4.1 of the Code. However, one-third of the
Directors of the Company (both executive and non-executive) are
subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting
under the articles of association of the Group. As such, the Group
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that
the Group’s corporate governance practices are similar to those in
the Code.

Directors’ Training

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
company secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 March
2018, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs
of the Board and the Board always acts in the best interests of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board convened
a total of 13 meetings included in which was one meeting held
among the non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) only. The Directors can attend meetings
in persons or through other means of electronic communication
in accordance with the articles of association of the Group. The
number of Board meetings attended by each Director during the
year ended 31 March 2018 is set out in the following table. Figure
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the
period in which the individual was a Director.
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Name of Directors

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIAO Jintian (Chairman)

Mr. WU Qi

Mr. FONG On Shek (appointed on 19 July 2017)
Ms. LEE Kar Ying (resigned on 30 June 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business
or family relationship among the members of the Board as at
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31 March 2018. All of them are free to exercise their individual 37 H & -

judgments.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Ka Yin was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company in August 2017. He reports to the Chairman and
executive Director of the Company and assists the Board in
functioning effectively and efficiently. He has taken no less than

DNEWE

15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended

31 March 2018.

Attendance

H R

12/(12)

11/(13)
13/(13)
13/(13)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a remuneration committee for determining the
remuneration of the Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, Mr. LIAO Jintian, Mr. LUK Simon
and Mr. HON Leung. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the
committee held two meetings to discuss remuneration related
matters. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee

member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin BlEE L+
Mr. LIAO Jintian BEREE
Mr. LUK Simon FER LA
Mr. HON Leung IRt

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin is the chairman of the remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee is responsible for the following
functions: determining the policy for remuneration of directors and
senior management, assessing performance of executive directors,
and approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts.
The remuneration committee has to make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management. No director or any of his/her
associated director, and executive is involved in deciding his/her
own remuneration.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was set up in March 2012. The
members of the nomination committee are Ms. LIU Xiaoyin,
Mr. LIAO Jintian, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung. Ms. LIU
Xiaoyin, is the chairman of the nomination committee. During the
year ended 31 March 2018, the committee held two meetings
to discuss nomination related matters. The number of meetings
attended by each committee member during the year ended
31 March 2018 is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets
indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period in which
the individual was a committee member.
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Ms. LIU Xiaoyin Bl &+

Mr. LIAO Jintian BERLEE
Mr. HON Leung Bon kAt
Mr. LUK Simon BEER 2% A&
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The primary function of the nomination committee is to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy to achieve board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors and
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background, educational background, skills, knowledge
and professional experience. All Board appointments will be based
on merit, and candidates will be measured against objective
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee has the delegated responsibilities to
monitor the implementation and review the board diversity policy
and report to the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon and
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin. Mr. HON Leung serves as the chairman of the
audit committee. No member of the audit committee is a member
of the former or existing auditor of the Company. During the year
ended 31 March 2018, the audit committee held two committee
meetings. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee

member.

Mr. HON Leung kA
Mr. LUK Simon PER 254
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin Bl &+

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditors,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors;

(2) to discuss with the external auditors on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures; and

(3) to review the interim and annual accounts. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the risk
management and internal controls, and the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2018.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company only held one
general meeting, i.e. the annual general meeting. The attendance
by each Director at the annual general meeting during the year
ended 31 March 2018 is set out in the following table.

BRAE
RBE-T-N\FZA=+-BLFE FARAELR
T—RBRRAE IRRBFAG - SEENHE=
- N\FZAZ+-BLEEERRRAFAGHER
MR TR

Attendance

R E

Mr. LIAO Jintian BIgsREE 0
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee PRE&ZTE 1
Ms. LEE Kar Ying (resigned on 30 June 2017) FPE LT (RZTE—LFRNA=THEHE) N/A 738 A
Mr. WU Qi REEE 0
Mr. FONG On Shek (appointed 19 July 2017) FRALAE(RZE—+FLtATNABEMR) 1
Mr. LUK Simon BER 2 L4 1
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin Bl A+ 0
Mr. HON Leung FRon A 0

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
functions. This includes developing and reviewing Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During
the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 March 2018, services provided to the
Group by its external auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, and the
respective fees paid/payable are set out as follows:

BB B =
HEZZ-NF=ZA=Z+—RHILFE INEZBEH

TEEEFMESMERARAARERHEZ RS R
EN/ERZERERHRINMT

HK$
BT
Elite Partners CPA Limited FT g MEEMERAA
— Audit services —BIZIR 420,000
— non-assurance services —EBEZRTE -
420,000
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE BEEYHHKBRRZ2EMR

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of such consolidated financial statements.
The statement of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 38 to 44.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Responsibility

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
are maintained. Management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks. Sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems are designed to identify
and manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

EXeNEARSHRELAKREGAVBRER AL
WHERGARVBRRIDBREEVIRE R ER S ER
BE-BEENTHERMETEEEGAVBHRR K&
BN ZBMFATEREFMEEMERARARASE
BiGReBRR:PRETEL 2 BHAANEIIBES
A48 7 B BB E o

REREE R E b B

BT
EFeAERREFEERAUNRREIEMAIBEE
PRGZEBEA-ERERERS EHRRERA
BERELMAREZERG UWEERAR - BENRBERZ
REERAIEERRRGEEHRR REEREE
R B IR 2 B o

31



32

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E kR B OE &£ B B R 44 FA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREARE

Risk Management Framework

Risk management is enhanced continually, linking to our corporate
strategies and as a continuous part of day-to-day business
operations for all key decision making processes and core business
activities. Major activities of the risk management process include
risk assessment, which constitutes the sub-processes of risk
identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation. There involves also
risk assessment documentation, methodologies, risk treatment,
monitoring and review for ensuring the overall effectiveness of risk
management. Fraud risk management through code of conduct and
whistleblowing policy is adopted to uphold honesty, integrity and
fair play as our core values of the Group at all times. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Audit Committee
supports the Board in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures,
the design and operating effectiveness of the underlying risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee,
acting on behalf of the Board, oversees the following processes:

(i) regular reviews of the principal business risks, and control
measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such risks; the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
system and action plans to address the weaknesses or to
improve the assessment process;

(i) regular reviews of the business process and operations,
including action plans to address the identified control
weaknesses and status update and monitor in implementing
its recommendations; and

(iii) regular reports by the external auditors, if any, of any
control issues identified in the course of their work and
the discussion with the external auditors of the scope of
their respective review and findings. The Audit Committee
will then report to the Board after due review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own view on
the effectiveness of these systems.
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Internal Control System

The Group’s internal control system aims at safeguarding assets
from inappropriate use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring
compliance with regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against misstatement
or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems. The Group’s internal control system includes a
well-established organizational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Policies and procedures are laid
down for its key business processes and business units covering
business operations, financial reporting, human resources and
computer information systems. The Code of Conduct is maintained
and communicated to all employees for compliance. In addition,
a whistleblowing policy was established for employees to raise
concerns in confidence about suspected misconducts, malpractices
or fraudulent activities relating to the Group.

COSO Internal Controls

The Group’s internal control model is based on that set down
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the U.S.
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) for internal controls, and has
five components, namely Control Environment; Risk Assessment;
Control Activities; Information and Communication; and Monitoring.
In developing the Group’s internal control model based on the
COSO principles, management has taken into consideration the
Group’s organisational structure and the nature of its business
activities.

() Control Environment

The Board has demonstrated a commitment to integrity
and ethical values. It works with independence from
management and exercises oversight of the development
and performance of internal control. Management
establishes the structures, reporting lines, and appropriate
authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
The Board is committed to attract, develop, and retain
competent individuals in alignment with objectives. It
holds individuals accountable for their internal control
responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

*ERAWE

Risk Assessment

The risk assessment specifies objectives with sufficient
clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives. It identifies risks to the achievement
of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a
basis for determining how the risks should be managed. It
also considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to
the achievement of objectives by identifying and assessing
changes that could significantly impact the system of
internal control.

Control Activities

Management selects and develops control activities that
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the achievement
of objectives to acceptable levels. It also develops
general control activities over technology to support the
achievement of objectives. Control activities through
policies and procedures are established to put into practice.

Information and Communication

Management obtains, generates and uses relevant,
quality information to support the functioning of internal
control. There is internal communication of objectives and
responsibilities necessary to support the functioning of
internal control. External communication regarding matters
affecting the functioning of internal control is made where
necessary.

Monitoring

Management has ongoing evaluations to ascertain whether
the components of internal control are present and
functioning. It evaluates and communicates internal control
deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible
for taking corrective action, including senior management
and the Board, as appropriate.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

During the year ended 31 March 2018, The Group has engaged an
external professional consultant to take the primary role to perform
the Internal Audit (“IA”) function on behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems. The annual review
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and considered:

(i) areas of risks identified by management;

(ii) effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems;

(iii) adequacy of the resources, qualification and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function, and their training and budget; and

(iv) any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems as identified as being necessary or
proposed in the Internal Control Review Report. The Audit
Committee concluded that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Executive Director of the Company also provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on 22 June 2018 and
as of that date. As a result of the above, the Board whilst keeping
it under review in light of experience, also considered the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information
policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements.
The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information.
Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening an Extraordinary

General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Company may also communicate with its Shareholders
through extraordinary general meetings, if and when appropriate.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a Notice
signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election and also
a Notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office not less than seven (7) clear days but not
more than fourteen (14) clear days before the date of the general
meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the registered
office of the Company in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Code requires the Company to have a dialogue with
shareholders and it is the responsibility of the Board as a
whole to ensure that satisfactory dialogue does take place. The
primary communication channel between the Company and its
shareholders is through the publication of its interim and annual
reports. The Company’s Registrars serve the shareholders with
respect to all share registration matters. The Company’s annual
general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. The directors and management
of the Company are available to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
director. Details of the poll voting procedures and rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes details of the procedures and the timetable of
proposing appropriate candidates to stand for election as directors
at annual general meetings, and relevant details of proposed
resolutions, including biographies of each candidate standing for
re-election and whether such candidates are considered to be
independent.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2018.
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elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the members of
China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 45 to 119, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2018, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March, 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters

Valuation of the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets
measured at fair value categorised as level 3

As at 31 March 2018, of the Group’s available-for-sale financial
assets approximately HK$101,012,000 were investment in unlisted
equity securities whose fair value measurements were categorised
as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

The valuation of the available-for-sale financial assets involved
high degree of estimation uncertainty, subjectivity and management
judgement.

We have identified the valuation of the Group’s available-for-sale
financial assets as a key audit matter because the availability of
financial information is limited for these financial assets and high
degree of management judgement was required in determining the
assumptions to use in arriving at the unobservable inputs.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter including the

following:

. We evaluated the competence, capabilities and independence
of the Group’s external valuer;

. We assessed the appropriateness for the selection of the
valuation technique used by management based on the
market practice and our knowledge of the nature of the
financial assets;
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° We evaluated the judgement made by management in
determining the key assumptions, including credit spread rate
and volatility, by comparing the supporting documentation to
external market analysis, the market practice and our industry
knowledge. We also performed an independent sensitivity
analysis to evaluate those assumptions applied to the
valuation model for calculating the fair value of the financial
assets; and

. We checked the mathematical accuracy of the discounted
cash flow model prepared by management via reperformance.

Key audit matters
Classification of investments in unlisted equity securities

Certain investments of the Group in unlisted equity securities are
not classified as associates despite the fact that the Group owns
more than 20% equity interests in those investees. The directors
concluded that, the Group has no significant influence over those
investments and hence these investments have been accounted
for as available-for-sale investments.

We have identified the classification of investments in unlisted
equity securities as a key audit matter because it required
significant management judgement taking into account the terms of
the related agreements and the specific facts and circumstances.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter including the
following:

We discussed with the directors on the basis that the Group does
not have significant influence over the investments and we have
challenged the management’s assessment.

We reviewed the related contracts and obtained corroborative
evidence where available to support the management’s judgement
that the Group does not have significant influence over any of
these investments.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRBMRERGEMBERRZEE

BEMMWER SHERRSMBRRRSTIEEAR
HFFEk R AR T E R A E B A RRAES 5 B R7E
YTHABRRMAELNZBEN RS - RPARZEEMM
BENZEGERER BT (ERBR)®RE Kitz
SMRIEEME M - TSR REN R E FERE
ALTE ERAEEFNEE - S BRELSSKTIHR
HETERERTBEAENETNERFERX—&E
REBRRATF R R AL IR - S RBUA T A BRFF K
R MREEBHMEMERKERLLERAESY
EZERAMBRREBEMELNLERE  BIF
2 B 35 RR RO AT AR E K

ERBEEBESEIETRIANBRED HMERT
BEABTEEAEABREPRET TRERREER -
IR

o BRI RFFEBERRFHERMEBURA BBRE
FEERHERBUANER R LRATEAERF
NEHEZERR ARBERRINEENETER
FERERMERNER BN k&
RoME BERER ERRL SOZERABE
Bz b R REEERAMFMERNERER
PR s &) [ B L B0 R S5 AR T B BUAY BB K #R AR BR A Y

fREFF A AREE  URFTREBRER
2 N

- FEEEARAETBENREERELEE
AR EN AN -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBAERE

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yip Kai Yin with Practising Certificate number
P05131.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

£ W

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

2018 2017
—s-NnE —E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M it FHERT FH&T
Gross proceeds from disposal of listed HEFIEEELTHES
securities held for trading 2B IEE R 295,087 358,933
Revenue W 2 8 907 633
Net realised loss on disposal of financial HERIEEEZHBEE
assets held for trading ZEEBEEFE (182,729) (84,657)
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on financial FHEEBEMBEEZ
assets held for trading REWR (FE) Ea
pei- (923,480) 560,758
Impairment of available-for-sale AHEHERE ZRE
investments (10,050) (24,000)
Other income H b 2= 8 - 55
Administrative expenses THAX (10,708) (13,467)
(Loss)/Profit from operations e (B8R R 10 (1,126,060) 439,322
Finance costs A& B AR 11 (2,154) (2,882)
(Loss)/Profit before tax MREBAT (B51E) SRR (1,128,214) 436,440
Income tax credit/(expense) FiisfiEe,” (FAx) 12 86,506 (80,676)
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to &2 T #H A AEL
owners of the Company Fr(EE) BF (1,041,708) 355,764
(Loss)/Earnings per share Bk (BR) &7
— Basic, HK cents —F2AR (BL) 14 (46.14) 17.15
— Diluted, HK cents —#5 OB1) 14 (46.14) 17.12
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
S EEREMEMEUEE IR For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE -2 — \F=A=+—BLLFE

2018 2017
—B-n& —E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(Loss)/Profit for the year R (FEE) R (1,041,708) 355,764
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2wk
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HiErJfEEF 7B 28 2 HE -
to profit or loss:
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE
Net (loss)/gain arising on revaluation of FAREGIHEEREMEEZ
available-for-sale investments (F518) a3
during the year (703) 1,942
Reclassification adjustment relating FAAMHEERERBERB
to impairments of available-for-sale EFOBRAE
investment during the year 10,050 24,000
Other comprehensive income FRHEMEEKE  HRHRIE
for the year, net of tax 9,347 25,942
Total comprehensive (expense)lincome HFRAXATHEEAEGE2E (X))
for the year and attributable to Wi 485
the owners of the Company (1,032,361) 381,706
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F R
% ’é‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% ;'-Ijt 5R, 13,\% For the year ended 31 March 2018 H{=—E— \F=HA=+—HILFE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—LtF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iokza FET FAET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WEREE 16 - =
Deposit paid for acquisition of investments  FtUW IR & & Mg g 17 - 4,000
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 18 101,012 131,715
101,012 135,715
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets held for trading RBIEEE 2V KEE 19 180,487 1,305,365
Other receivables, prepayments and H b FEURIE - BT FRIE R
deposits b 21 103,926 135,952
Current tax assets MBRIEEE 38 47
Cash and cash equivalents BeEMREeEEY 22 35,408 23,789
319,859 1,465,153
Current liabilities RBAE
Margin payables ERRES 23 6,988 55,190
Other payables and accruals EMEARIERETER 2,450 17,358
Current tax liabilities mENTIA B E 2,294 23
11,732 72,571
Net current assets RBEEFEE 308,127 1,392,582
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBERE 409,139 1,528,297
Non-current liability *kRBAE
Deferred tax liability RIEFIE G E 24 = 88,800
Net assets EEFE 409,139 1,439,497
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

?‘}5_; ’é‘ /E]_I' ﬁ% Hﬁ 5R 13,\% For the year ended 31 March 2018 #IZE — T~ \F=A=+—HI-FE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
bt iF FTExT FHET
Capital and reserves EXRFHE
Share capital & A 256 112,883 112,883
Reserves EEe] 27 296,256 1,326,614
Total equity S 409,139 1,439,497
Net asset value per share (in HK$) BEREEFE (Bx) 28 0.18 0.64
The consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 119 were BN FAEEFNIBEZEAVBERERENRZZE—AN
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on FRAZtTZRAEESTSHERERETE WKSHT
22 June 2018 and signed on its behalf by: MATREKEE:
CHAN Cheong Yee Fong On Shek
RE& FRA
Director Director

EFE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

—=

For the year ended 31 March 2018 = =%

£ i

NF=ZRA=+—HILFE

Available-
for-sale Retained
Share investment earnings/
Share Share option revaluation  (Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve loss) Total
AfEE
REEM REEH/
BA R BE BRERE " (R&tE#E) aE
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEL TERT THET TERT THER TEL
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+t&WA—H 112,883 914,480 395 6,692 405,047 1,439,497
Loss for the year KEERR - - - - (1,041,708) (1,041,708)
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2 EME:
Net gain arising on revaluation of ERNRERAHENLE
available-for-sale investments BREMEEZ
during the year REEE - - - 9,347 - 9,347
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ FRE {2 N = = = 9,347 5 9,347
Total comprehensive income/(expense) Fh2ENE/ (A8
for the year - - = 0347 (1041708)  (1,032,361)
Recognition of equity-settled RUEREENRN A
share based payments ER 2R - - 2,003 = = 2,003
Lapse of share options BRELY - - (395) - 395 =
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\%
=B=+-H 112,883 914,480 2,003 16,039 (636,266) 409,139
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEZSBR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

Available-
for-sale
Share investment
Share Share option revaluation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve earnings Total
e
REEM
R BRHEE  BRERE & REEF skl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHEL TR TER FHEL TR
At 1 April 2016 RZE-—AFWA—H 94,083 852,221 - (19,250) 49,283 976,337
Profit for the year KEERF - - - - 355,764 355,764
Other comprehensive income: Ht2EK
Net gain arising on revaluation of FRREMHATHEE
available-for-sale investments REMEEZ
during the year BREE - - - 1,942 - 1,942
Reclassification adjustments relating to ~ FRHRAHEERE
available-for-sale investments RERBZ
impairment of during the year ERNRRE - - - 24,000 - 24,000
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 R it 2 i 25 - = = 25,942 = 25,942
Total comprehensive income for the year A2z 45 - - - 25,942 355,764 381,706
Issue of shares under placing of shares  RIER &R H TR M 18,800 63,920 - - S 82,720
Transaction costs on placing of shares RERND ZRHKA = (1,661) s S = (1,661)
Recognition of equity-settled share based  ##2 JA {7 A& E % A
payments BREEZNH - - 395 - = 395
At 31 March 2017 R-B-+#%
=B=t+-H 112,883 914,480 395 6,692 405,047 1,439,497
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F I
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
% ’g‘ IE, ﬁ )?ﬁ, % 13,\% For the year ended 31 March 2018 &2 T — N\F=A=1+—HILFE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities KRETHRERE
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELRT (EB) s F (1,128,214) 436,440
Adjustments for: MUATIEE EHFAE:
Interest income FLEMA (7) (3)
Dividend income & B A (900) (630)
Interest expenses FERE 2,154 2,882
Net realised loss on financial assets %1”?%3:%?2@13"{%?2
held for trading B2 # BINEIEFE 182,729 84,657
Net unrealised loss/(gain) on financial ?ﬁfﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁz
assets held for trading SHEE (En)FHE 923,480 (560,758)
Impairment of available-for-sale A ERERE
investment 10,050 24,000
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE BELEREEZER
plant and equipment - (55)
Equity-settled share-based payments INREEFE ARG AEM A
expenses 2,003 395
Operating loss before working HEESEHANEEER
capital changes (8,705) (13,072)
Purchase of financial assets held BEREEREZUBEE
for trading (276,418) (663,889)
Purchase of available-for-sale BEUHOERE
investments (31,000) (9,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial LERERECHBEEMSNIA
assets held for trading 295,087 358,933
Proceeds from disposal of HERHEEREMBRIEA
available-for-sale investments 41,120 —
Increase in deposit paid for acquisition B E SRS 2180
of investment - (4,000)
Decrease in other receivables, H i ERRIE - BARERIESR D
prepayments and deposits 40,906 2,389
(Decrease)/increase in margin payables ERRESZ OBd) A18m (48,202) 47,572

Increase in other payables and accruals H 0 FE A RIB R FERT B AL AN 92 1,145

S1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

MERERER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Cash generated from/(used in) operations  &&EEBE/ (FTA)WE S 12,880 (279,922)
Dividend received B R B 900 630
Interest received 2 UHLE 7 3
Interest paid EENEES] (2,154) (2,882)
Tax paid ETRHIA (14) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) KEEEE (A MRS F5
operating activities 11,619 (282,171)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHERERE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BERRBABRE
plant and equipment - 55
Net cash generated from investing activities & & /EEFTERIR & /FEE - 55
Cash flows from financing activities MEITBHRERE
Proceeds from placing of shares Bl & AR 10 2 P15 /78 - 82,720
Expenses paid in connection with BITRODBBEZEAHAE
issuance of shares = (1,661)
Net cash generated from financing activities Fl & /EEFTSHIR & /F58 - 81,059
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBRLEEYWHEM OBd) B8
cash equivalents 11,619 (201,057)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHMzReRIBEEEEY
beginning of year 23,789 224,846
Cash and cash equivalents at the end ERZESRESESEY
of year 35,408 23,789
Analysis of balances of cash and RERAESEEYERDN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHEH 4,149 14,186
Deposits at other financial institutions REAM & RS 2 7R 31,259 9,603
35,408 23,789




mEMBHRME

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 26 April 2002. The
Company’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from
19 September 2002. The registered office of the Company
is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and its principal office
in Hong Kong is at Room 1104, Crawford House, 70 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are investment holding
and trading of securities.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong
Kong dollars (HK$), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
The Group has applied for the first time in the current
year the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12  Recognition of Deferred
Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
included in Annual Other Entities:
Improvements to Clarification of the Scope
HKFRSs 2014-2016 of HKFRS 12
Cycle

Annual R rt
2017/18 2 £p°$&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

2. ERANIERAMBRELEDN ([HEM
BREEQ | REBVBH/EEZ
1E&] (#)

(a) REFERFERZEBUBHEER
ZAERT (&)
REFEERAZETEUBRELL ZE
AU EHAEEARAFRERBEFREZH
BRERMRRA R SR EGRE M B RRARRE
BERKBEATE-

(b) EEMEEMKRERZHATERBTBERS
HARBEMBHREER BT
AEBIRREFRATIECRMEHRE
WA RRIEFTBAMBRMELED -

effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Classification and
Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS
4 Insurance Contracts’

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture*

Clarifications to HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers'

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts
with Customers'’

B RS %A AR (7 A B R
B2 2 1EE] REHRZZH
SR E
BAEM RS 2R RAEBIBEEH
BASE 2 1ER] SRR A5
MRS 4] B
—HEAEE
B 15 3R 2 )
SEO5% [ 4 Bl
TA]
BB KRS 2R AEBBRED
95K 2 1EF] TR AT I8 R 12
BAEM B RS 2R BAEE RS
F105E BB ARHAEED
#E B 52855 ECHMEE
(ZZ——F) 2B HELFE
BB KRS 2R HEBMBRE
1555 2 18F] AR 1557 R
BEF&REM
WA B EE
B RS %R SR A
957
BB RS 2R FEEFEERM
155k A



Annual R rt
2017/18 2 ;poﬁ

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

2. BRAHIERYBREERN (FBY
BHREZU D REBMBREEA
1E&] (#)

(b) EHEMEERERZHTEBUBHS
ERRBBUBHREER 2B (K)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Leases?

Insurance Contracts®

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures?

Transfers of Investment
Property’

Foreign Currency
Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments?

Amendments to HKFRS 1
and HKAS 28!

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 232

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption

BB B ImE %R ik

E165%

BB S WS R REE L

FE1758

EE G ELFE28KE Yy REEARK

EH) BEPEN
REARE 2

BEEGHENFIR: BREMEER

EH)

BE (BRMERE INERZ 5 R

REZET) BRRE

— B EEE225

BE (BRM KRS FT 15 %5 B 32 9

REZEY) T 5E M2

— R EE235%R

—ZT-WFERE BEMBRE

ZE-RFEBRZ R E1H R

FER#E ERGTER
E28%: 2 &R

—T—hHEZE ERTBRE

T+ FEBR YERIZE35% -

FERE BEEMBRE

AR E11557 »
BEGTER
F12HmREE
ETER

SE235% Z (B R]?

! RZE-NF-A B zERBZFEH

fEl A

2 RIE-NF-A-HIAZKRARZFES

fE A

s NIE-—F—- AR zERABZFEH

fEl A

4 ISR B AR H - R R R R

55



56 China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E kR B OE &£ B B R 44 FA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,2,51-\ ’g‘ EZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' -EI For the year ended 31 March 2018 #E—F— \F=A=1+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include
the requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further
amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for
hedge accounting. Another revision version of HKFRS
9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include (a) impairment
requirements for financial assets and (b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a “fair value through other
comprehensive income” measurement category for
certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

. All recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” are subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Under
HKFRS 9, debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent
reporting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9,
entities may take an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.

2. ERFTEBUMBREER ([FBH
BREEAREBUBREEZ
155 (%)

(b) EFEMEBERERZHTEBHBERE
BARBBUBREER 2B (K)
BB B REERFN [2MTA)
“RTNFRMG BB B REELFOR
SIABMBAED BRI BZHRE - B
BRELAPORARR B —BF B
IABESERAEMHRENRKLERRZ
BE-HTE—SR-F-=FE:T Ua
EEBE AR AZ AT R -2 —0F
B BB B A ERIBOR S — A
STARARE B S| A () B 5 & E RO R E KLE K (b)
HAETHEEBIAIAEBRATE
51| R 3 7 E A 2 T MR 25 O BR 3B ) 5T R
HHBREBAEELARET -

BBV BMEERBESR 2 FEREH MM
T

c BEBEFERNEISR SR T A E
BEFE | BEANFECEHAVKEE
Hig BIZE N AR A T EFTE - 1RIE
FEAEYBREEFH B2 U
BHNREREZEBRARNFTAZE
BRERGHNRERELER/INA
ERREEASZ2FEZEHKRE  —
MIZEESTHREER Z #EKE
AE-MAREMEBRRERBRAREY
RERSTHREERZATEFE
BEAN - R E S B 7S s E RIS 95 -
ERAGETAHOMERERAMBEE
WP 2 BRAKRE (LIFFIERS)
ZHERATFEZE Y -KRIRAEEETD
FERR AL B UL A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
% ’g‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2018 =~ T —N\F=A=+—RHI-FE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

. With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit
or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the
financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39,
the entire amount of the change in fair value of
the financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

. In relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model,
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under
HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires
an entity to account for expected credit losses and
changes in those expected credit losses at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before
credit losses are recognised.

2. ERAHNTEEAMBREERN (BB
BHREEA | REBMBHREENZ
85T (4&)

(b) EFEMEEKRERZHITETBEMBRE
ZARBEBHBEREER 2EF] (&)
EBHBHREEREIR 28 TR
(#&)

- BETREZREATFERENTBA
BZEtEMs BAMBHRSENZE
FHREMBAEEERREHEL Y
ZEBRATEEHcENEME2EK
=2V BRIEREMEEAREEREE
Zﬁ%ﬂ‘*ﬁ@b%ga&,@l&%}%ﬁ
BRzefEi W KaBEEERRE
@b?izﬁﬂ%ﬁéﬁﬂ? EHHEET
CENMOEEEE - BESESAER
FEIWETARESRAFEEED
BHBEATEEZH 2 HSHENIE

92

HE e

- HMBEEMNREMS BEEGHE
AIE3RBTREELEEEEREN
AEEAR BEVBREERESRR
ERBAHEEEREAGFE -BHEE
EERAFTZERNIRSANKAE
HEEBERREEEBENANE
PAR URREERR Q%ﬂﬁ%@m
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,2,51-\ ’g‘ EZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' -EI For the year ended 31 March 2018 #E—F— \F=A=1+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

. The new general hedge accounting requirements
retain the three types on hedge accounting
mechanisms currently available in HKAS 39. Under
HKFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced
to the types of transactions eligible for hedge
accounting, specifically broadening the types of
instruments that qualify for hedge accounting.
In additions, the effectiveness test has been
overhauled and replaced with the principle of an
“economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment
of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an
entity’s risk management activities have also been
introduced.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments policies,
the directors of the Company anticipate that, the equity
securities classified as available-for-sale investments
as disclosed in note 18 qualified for designation as
measured at financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income under HKFRS 9, however, the
Group plans not to elect the option for designating these
securities to be measured at financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income and will measure
these securities at fair value with subsequent fair value
gains or losses to be recognised in profit or loss. Upon
initial application of HKFRS 9, investments revaluation
reserve related to these available-for-sale investments
currently accumulated in equity will be transferred to
accumulated loss at 1 April 2018.

2. ERFTEBUMBREER ([FBH
BREEAREBUBREEZ
155 (%)

(b) EFEMEBERERZHTEBHBERE
BARBBUBREER 2B (K)
BEEHBHREEAEIR (2@ T A
(&

- HRYUMPRHERETRBEERS
BRIEIRIEE = A R 1R
BEERHREENFOR ZHE
REAEYR R 2R SERBAEX
BEE AHREMAARTEHNE
SFTAER - RAASEEER
RO TEBERE] RARAK  BHEB
P EERRA FESAEBERE
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BREREB2EMIARK ARRESRRE
1S RBED B AATHEERE 2K
AEHBERRBEBT BV B RE LA FEIR
BEABEAFEFARM2ZE RS 2B
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ZEEFURATFEFALMEZEKE 2
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REMEBAEMBREERESRE - BAIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEBHBERHBE

POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CQ”").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not they control an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a joint venture.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding ant at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as
a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial
disposal of the Group’s interests.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING FTESTHRERE (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued) S (&)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employee are measure at the fair value of the
goods or services received, except where that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported
in the profit or loss because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

TR BERME (F)
BiE ()
AEBGRARMBARRBERRZRERR

REZELH 2R %@Z%aﬁﬂﬁaﬁﬁv%%ﬁiﬁﬁa’um
ERIARE RSB ARG TR EZRE BT
NRERBZREAERALERISED 2 EREA
BOISN REZERE R AR A HIRE R
ERMEEZERVAEE ERTEBERARE
RUEEMNAEPREREZER NS AEHTR
AR A RE D 2150 T RER o

AEEERNSRERMEREEMETCHBEE
ZEESE WEEBRESEF AT EAKEZ2
EBER I D X BB E R T AR

BEERBEENAGBRANBEERGEHNEREE
HMERZHE RERRE HF'EJ & RS C R MR
FEELERHZRE (RBE)F

BEERBRBEREEZFTENARRIRRAEE
FREH 2 77 AR B s MR ARG W@ E E RS
ERERESBEIRBER

B MEER AN BRRER EEERNEtE
RS EENERER AR BR AR
FEFIATN D BN E s 2 IS s B R N R R



mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Motor Vehicle 30%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in
the year in which the item is derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING FESHHREME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ME BRERZEZRE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimated of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL"), available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount of initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets designed as at
FVTPL.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FYTPL when the financial
asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would

otherwise arise; or

. the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

0 it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “net unrealised gain or loss on
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss” line item in
the consolidated income statement. Fair value is determined
in the manner described in elsewhere in these notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or
(c) financial assets at FVTPL. The Group designated certain
items, including unlisted equity securities, listed and unlisted
debt securities and unlisted convertible debt securities, as
AFS financial assets on initial recognition of those items.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are
classified as AFS financial assets and are traded in an
active market are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Changes in the carrying amount of
AFS monetary financial assets relating to interest income
calculated using the effective interest method are recognised
in profit or loss. Dividends on AFS equity investments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established. Other changes in the
carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated under the
heading of available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve.
When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

AFS financial assets (continued)

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Loans and receivables (including deposits and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents) are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been
affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its costs is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

Annual R rt
2017/18 2 ;pOﬁ

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

TESHHREME (#)

SRIA (#)

BEEE (&)

AHHERBEE (&)

AHHERATEZ RENANEBE WA R 2 #
MR RRBRRP T AR -

B R R R

B3R N B R IR A% SRR B E 3R] B E WO FEOT AR B
BEE BYEARGZREMS ERE-ERXNEK
RA(BRZEREMERKFA RekReE
BY) AB BRI RIS AR R ES R -

B TR B BRI  E M0E AR R R IE
ZHERH S BBEER D ARSI

MBEEZRME

REREPHERE BWHEE (UAFEGFA
BaRk M BEERIN RIEREHEREDTR
ERRERBRRTNYBEEZHNARRSRE
AR HERZVBEEREEZ —BAREZEF
HHRMEIFER  BEZVBEERRME-

RAREEZRAKEMS  ZEFZRAFEKR
B RMEREKRAE IIRERBEZ EEE
e

/3



74

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E kR B OE &£ B B R 44 FA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

. breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed
through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the
investment can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, including other payables and accruals and
margin payable, are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises
an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety,
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the
financial asset between the part it continues to recognise, and
the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative
fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The
difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part
that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration
received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative
gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those
parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institution, and short-term liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition For the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts and
bank loans, if any, which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of an entity’s cash managements are also
included as component of cash and cash equivalents.
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,2,51-\ ’é‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% ﬁ %% Bﬂ' %I For the year ended 31 March 2018 #iZ — T — \F=A=+—HIFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHREME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties BEAL
For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties HEFVBREMS BEALTBETINXAAE
include a person and entity as defined below: ZIEANLEEE:
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is (@) MBUATAL BIZALTHEZALZER
related to the Group if that person: REKBHEARNEEGEE

(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (iy EHIHEREIEHARE

(i) has significant influence over the Group; (i) HAEBBEERZE N

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of (iiiy BARAKARAREARIMNBERER
the Company or of a parent of the Company; AB:

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any (b) MAFETIEE NEEEAEER(ERE
of the following conditions applies: B)B#ME:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of (i) ZEBEAQTER-—%KEXE (A&
the same group (which means that each parent, DR FRARKBHRFARHEERE)
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(i) either entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) " EREZ BERIBERAFALEE
other entity (or of a member of a group of which the rE (XS EBRKNERAFRIZEEE
other entity is a member); THERBIZHMERRNEERE)

(ii) both entities are joint ventures of a third entity; (i) BEBHUAR—F=-Aza&ELE:

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (iv) " BERBEE=-HERBZAELE 5—
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ERARE=FEEZHERA:

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) ZERRARARAINIERRNLNRME
benefit of employees of either the Company or an EREERAE

e S 2 BB 1R 48 A
FEERAS REEBZET
HZE Bt E RRE

ok
—+

entity related to the Company. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are il
also related to the plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZEBEW (a)BEREZ ALTEHI%
person identified in (a); P
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBERBE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies: (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity);

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or a parent of the Group.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Classification of investments in unlisted equity securities:
Certain investments in unlisted equity securities are not
classified as an associate nor accounted for using equity
method, even though the Group owns or potentially owns
more than 20% ownership interest in those investments. In
the opinion of the directors, the Group has no significant
influence over those investments since the Group and each
of the investee entered into a relevant agreement to conclude
the followings:

—  the Group did not have any representative on the board
of directors or equivalent governing body of those
investments;

—  the Group did not participate in policy-making processes,
including participation in decisions about dividends or
other distributions; and

—  the Group did not interchange any managerial personnel
with those investments.

As the Group did not act to fulfill any one of the issues stated
above, it does not consider as having significant influence on
the investments. Hence, those investments are not considered
as the associate of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The board
of directors of the Company determines the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent professional valuers to perform the valuation.
The financial controller works closely with the independent
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The financial controller
reports the valuation findings to the board of directors of the
Company to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value
of the assets and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the
fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 7
provides detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the
fair value of various assets and liabilities.

Annual R rt
2017/18 2 ;poﬁ

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

EREMHERAETFTABERZEE
HIR ()

A THBAERE 2 EERR
ERRRNEIERRARNBSHMERTFE
EREAREZNT—EVRERHEERAEHN
FREEFEAAENEMAIZEATRERRNR
IR Al

N FEGERIGEBFE
AEBETEERABNRAVFEFEARREH
BERBEN - ARREZTERAFEAEETE
P & B 5 g B s A B -

HHEEREBORAFER AEEEAATAT
GABREE -WE - R Z2BARBAITR K
SEEZRBEVEXGEMETHE MBKEE
THBYEXEHEMBETAE FFIAEZHE
Bk EABARE U BEERARARESES
ERHENAEER UEBEERBEATE
REE R A o

7 EAR A BIE IEA T R 5 BB A R
)\ BB 1 PO 0 f L R 5 1 E FAERI BT T A&
MATE - MATRUEHETS BEAERAE
BB PR B LA - 8 A B R B R R R
HEER-

81



China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E kR B OE &£ B B R 44 FA

= AN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,2,51-\ ’é‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ 43):2 Bﬂ' %I For the year ended 31 March 2018 #E—F— \F=A=1+—HILFE

82

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EcRKBER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in AEBERHERN BRASEETEEESE
the Group will be able to continue as going concern while KeE ARFABTCESEEER 2 TE £8
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation BARREH NEEBBRERNBAIFELHR
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy o
remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash KEBZEAEERERSRREEEWU LA
equivalents and equity attributable to shareholders of the EBITRANEFEBEK 2 AN AR REEE#ELS -
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
The directors review the capital structure by considering the EEREREEARARERNIEHARER FRERX
cost of capital and the risks associated with capital. In view - AERI AEE S BEITHRINRE
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure THE FEHEHEEEREB AEBEEKRE
through new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt. REEFERFE -
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout
the year.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. MEITH
Categories of financial instruments MBIAZSE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REBEHBAERR SRNVETAZEREBER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as K
follows:
Financial AFS Other
assets at Loan and financial financial
FVTPL  receivables assets liabilities Total
UATE
HABRE EXRK A E Hit
ZHBEE W RE HBEER BHBAE @5t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TER TET TER TET
2018 —E2-N\F
AFS investments AfHERE - - 101,012 - 101,012
Financial assets held for trading REEB MBEE 180,487 = = = 180,487
Other receivables and deposits H U IE Rk - 103,926 - = 103,926
Bank and cash balances RITRBEEH - 35,408 = = 35,408
180,487 139,334 101,012 - 420,833
Margin payables ERGRES - - - 6,988 6,988
Other payables and accruals HEMFIBEREE A - - - 2,450 2,450
_ . - 9,438 9,438
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. BT HR(E)
Categories of financial instruments (continued) MEIAZ2E (&)
Financial AFS Other
assets at Loan and financial financial
FVTPL  receivables assets liabilities Total
NAFE
FABER BEo Rk EhE Hfty
LHBEE FE A MBEE HBBE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL FEL AL FTET BT
2017 “E-tf
AFS investments AfHERE - - 131,715 - 131,715
Financial assets held for trading REEB MKERE 1,305,365 - - = 1,305,365
Other receivables and deposits HEb RN HIE R = 135,952 = = 135,952
Bank and cash balances RITRBRHEH = 23,789 = = 23,789
1,305,365 159,741 131,715 - 1,596,821
Margin payables ERRESR - - - 55,190 55,190
Other payables and accruals HtERRBEREFER - - - 17,358 17,358
_ & - 72,548 72,548

83



84 China Investment and Finance Group Limited
7 E R B E & B B R A& F
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%é‘ﬂji‘%iﬁ %% Bﬂ' -EI For the year ended 31 March 2018 8=~ T —\F=A=+—RHIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include AFS
investments, financial assets held for trading, other
receivables and deposits, bank and cash balances, other
payables and accruals, and margin payables. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are
set out below. Management monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets which
consists of cash and cash equivalents that are denominated
in United States dollars amounted to HK$267,000 (2017:
HK$267,000). The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis
As HKS$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the USD/HK$ exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the bank balances carried at floating interest rate. The
Group currently does not have a hedge policy against the
interest rate exposure. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider the hedging significant
interest rate exposure as needed.

BB TR (&)

MERKBEREBERBE

$EIZ$£%$Iﬂﬁ%Tﬁﬁ%&é~ﬁﬁ
BEIUBEAE HMBERFEBERERS BITR
im%\HMEHmE&%ﬁE%M&EH%

B REUBIAZHBERESEWTHKE M

ZEVHBIABEAZRABRERASEERALZER

w%E%Zﬁ ﬁﬂ@Tﬁaﬁﬁéﬁrmﬁﬂ
R EBEB I E A E IS -

SN R B

RS RE AEEUINEHEZEBE
EBREUETAHEZRSRREEY) ZER
18 /3267,0007% 7T (—Z —+ 4 : 267,000/ 7T ) °
REERBYEIBEEIBE - AT TEES
ERINERR  WHNBEBREELHERIN
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to interest
rate risk of bank balances, which are short term in nature, is
insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Equity price risk

The Group’s equity price risk relates to equity price changes
arising from listed securities held for trading stated in
financial assets at FVTPL. The Group’s listed securities held
for trading are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Decisions to buy and sell listed securities are rested
with assigned investment managers and governed by specific
investment guidelines. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities operating in 2 (2017: 2)
sectors quoted in the Stock Exchange.

Sensitivity analysis

If the price of the respective investments held by the Group
as financial assets held for trading were higher or lower by
5% as at 31 March 2018 (2017: 5%), the Group’s profit for
the year ended 31 March 2018 would increase or decrease by
approximately HK$9,024,000 (2017: HK$65,268,000).

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual other receivables
and deposits at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
The Group does not provide any financial guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BETE (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (&)

Cash and bank deposits are placed with financial institutions
with sound credit ratings. Listed securities stated in financial
assets held for trading are placed with custodian, which
management believes it is of higher credit quality. Given
their high credit ratings, management does not expect any
counterparty failing to meet its obligations.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group are unable to meet
their payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves, as well as continuously
monitoring cash flow forecast and actual cash flows.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents that is
adequate in management discretion. In formulating their
strategy, management would consider the financing of the
Group’s operations and the effects of fluctuation in operating
and investing cash flows. As at 31 March 2018, the liquidity
of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain
adequate cash flows from operations and to raise funds
through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt
obligations and investment project opportunities as they fall
due or arise.

The remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest
date that the Group can be required to pay, are within one
year or on demand (2017: within one year or on demand).

ReRBOERDERRABRFEEFR 2R
BE- URBEEBEZMBEEIRZ LTRSS H
AERERN EEERRECEERRE-ER
WERXZEHFERIFEETH BEEEL ALY
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RBEREBEAEENT T B ED R REE
THREEHABEHBENREEZRAR -NEEE
BEBARZEBARBEERASRERA R
ERBREREEBRDESAR-

RERRBESRARME AKREKRE AR
SENERREFRNEBRERRRAZKT-E
BEEHIRBERHEEAESEZLLE A IME -
URBERHRREZREREZRBTE R
—E-N\F=ZA=t+—H FrEEZRBESE
EEURNELERERNELRDMANESRE
VEEREEETIHLRHREERERERE
BETMEEFRDETEE

AEERBABNHRENBERFZBRT AN
DR—FERAIBRERBEE(ZFT—LF: —F
N EKRKEERE) (REAORMBBRARSRE
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT T/

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
At 31 March 2018, the Group had following financial
instruments carried at fair value all of which are based
on the Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

ATEHE

(i)

NERERUATEFEZAEEHMK
EERAYE

RZZE—N\F=ZA=+—80 KAEEEUT
BHEITA HRAFEBRIIEZE K-
ERREZFUARFEAR:

hierarchy:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Level 1: F—H:
Financial assets at FVTPL NAFEEAABREZHEEE
— Financial assets held for trading —RBEEBECUBEE 180,487 1,305,365
Level 3: F=4:
AFS financial assets AEEENEEE
— Equity securities i TN 101,012 131,715
281,499 1,437,080

There were no transfers among all Levels in both years.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

P fIE] 67 2 19 45 A 1 ) O 8 4 3

AEBETFHBAERMBEEDAEHRE
BRERE 2 ATENE TR EMR
SE AR R A R AT EMTESE (&
WS 58 A R R A ) 2 A
Ko
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. A¥EFTE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFEZAEBHK
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAFYE (&)
(continued)
Relationship of
Fair value  Valuation Significant unobservable
Financial assets 2018 2017 hierarchy  technique(s) unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
TABR
EXFT BAHER
HBEE ZE-N\E  ZE—+E NVEER MEHH BEGAHE NYEZHE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR
Available-for-sales investments
THHERE
Unlisted equity securities 101,012 81,715 Level 3 Discount cash flow with future Free cash flow The higher the free cash
cash flows that are estimated flow, the higher the
based on expected recoverable fair value
amounts, discounted at rates
that reflect management’s best
estimation of the expected risk
level
ETRAES 101,012 81,715 £=H ARRENERBRETRELE BmReRE BRRSRERK AT
B NHRRENE  NRRY {EFZPN
EREHRARRKT 251
fhEt Z L EER
Discounted rate that ~ The higher the discount
correspond to the rate, the lower the fair
expected risk level value
BeEgRRKTz  HRXEA ATES)D
BR%
Unlisted equity securities - 50,000 Level 3 Sales consideration N/A N/A
stated in agreement
ELTRAES - 50,000 £=# & HERE TER TER
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
YR TRk ABEE
Financial assets held for trading 180,487 1,305,365 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active ~ N/A N/A
market

BEEECHKEE 180,487 1,305,365 %—4 EEMHEAE TEHA TER
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. A¥EE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFEZAEBUK
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAYE (&)
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements E=RATEFTEHFF
2018 —E-N\F
Financial assets BMiEEE
Available-
for-sale
investments
AHHERE
Equity
securities
B AR F
HK$°000
FET
At 1 April 2017 R-Z—+FMA—H 131,715
Total gains or losses R EEEE
in profit or loss REZER (10,050)
in other comprehensive income RE A 2wk 9,347
Purchase e = 20,000
Disposal e (50,000)
At 31 March 2018 R—E—N\F=A=+—H 101,012
Total loss recognised in the R-E-NF=A=+—H
consolidated statement FIERGERERERZ
of profit or loss relating to REEEREEARE

assets held at 31 March 2018 (10,050)
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) T/

(i)

(i)

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i)
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

[NFEFE (&)

DNERERUAFEHABRZAKEUMK

BEEQAYHE (&)

FE=RRFlEFEH TR ()

(continued)
2017 —E—tF
Financial assets B EE
Available-
for-sale
investments
AHEERE
Equity
securities
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2016 RZTE—RFMOA—H 105,773
Total gains or losses BaBEERE
in profit or loss M8 (24,000)
in other comprehensive income REMEEKE 25,942
Purchase BE 24,000
At 31 March 2017 R-—E—tF=A=+—H 131,715
Total loss recognised in the R=ZZE—tF=HA=+—8
consolidated statement FIERGERERERZ
of profit or loss relating to REEEREEARE
assets held at 31 March 2017 (24,000)

Fair values of financial instruments carried at

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets

and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are not

materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2018 and 2017 due to their short-term maturities.

(i) YFEAAFEFEZHBEIRZLFE

R-B-NFER-_ZF—tHF=H=+—H
B SHR ARSI R AN R BB 15 8 E MW7
BEZEAEREAFERBESEAER &

RIS ERMAEIE -
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8. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 8. WHERHEMBA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income are as REE 7 W REMBASTRT
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F el
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Revenue: g
Dividend income from financial assets BEBEBEMBEEZREKA
held for trading - 630
Dividend income from available-for-sale A ERE 2R BA
investment 900 -
Interest income from brokers &t 2 F B A 7 2
Interest income from bank accounts RITFERZFBIA - 1
907 633
Other income: HAa A
Gain on disposal of property, plant and LEWE BMEREEILE
equipment - 55
- 5D
907 688
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group’s
revenue and results were mainly derived from the interest
income and dividend income from investment holding. The
directors consider that these activities constitute one and
the only business segment since these transactions are
subject to common risks and returns. The management
monitors the operating results of its investment business as
a whole for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Given the nature of
the Group’s business was operated as a single segment, it is
not considered meaningful to provide an operating segment
analysis of financial performance.

Geographical information

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, all activities
of the Group are based in Hong Kong and all of the Group’s
revenue was derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
geographical analysis of revenue and assets is presented.

Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment
holding, there was no information regarding major customers
as determined by the Group.

TEHEH

BE_ T N\ER_FT—tHF=-HA=1t—"BLF
B AR E K= &%ﬁIEXQ&Q?MZﬂ
WARBBWRA -EERA" mmMiwgax
HRE R EE R DS EEERE — R
EBOM ERBERHEEBRERT 2KZS
BUERERD BERRBFEELRE - ERA
SEZELE - DHNERLEE WA B RRE
HELDBOTEETK

ﬁEﬁﬂ
REZ-Z-N\EFR-_Z—+tF=A=+—HLt
FE- ﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%t@ REBET MASER
ZHBREMNREESE - At I E 271k
AREEMMEDTER -
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10. & (BE) &5

£ W

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
(Loss)/Profit from operation has been s (BB RF T,/
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (TN TIEREEH:
Directors’ remunerations EEM=
— Fees - 1,170 1,354
— Other remunerations —H & 277 290
Total directors’ remunerations BmEEWE 1,447 1,644
Staff costs BTA
— Salaries A 1,327 2,609
— Provident fund contributions —RNEEHK 40 62
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ BETITRA(TEEESHE)
remunerations) 1,367 2,671
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BRI B & 420 400
Equity-settled share-based payments LARREE B AR BER 2R 2,003 395
Investment manager fee HEKEEHR 960 960
Gain on disposal of property, LEME BMEREREZ
plant and equipment b = (55)
Operating lease payments in respect of BRARAECLEROER
office premise 60 -
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. MEKE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Interest on margin financing wholly REBREHEE L
repayable on demand REZBEFNE 2,154 2,882
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
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R 2~ =

12. igHiER (BX)

—N\F=ZA=1+—HLEFE

2018 2017
=E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Current tax: EHBE:
Hong Kong Profits Tax: BEREFEH

(Under)/Over-provision BEFE

in respect of prior years (BETR) /TBERE (2,294) 20

Deferred tax: B IE :

Credit/(Charges) for the year RNEEERSE,/ (ZH) 88,800 (80,696)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fis#Ee, () 86,506 (80,676)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit

before tax using the statutory tax rate for the respective tax

FEBE LA EBRBADENZ HARAT - TR
MR TR R R R E B M A B 52 i AT A AR R T

jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries are ERERIEERE:
domiciled is:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
(Loss)/Profit before tax BRELAT (BB) EF (1,128,214) 436,440
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEATHERGTE 2 A 186,155 (72,013)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR A 2 B2
for tax purposes (28) (3,970)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenues BERBRIMA 2 G E 200 114
Tax effect on deductible temporary AERATINRBREZEZHETE
differences not recognised (154,061) 855
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBRBBEBIRETE 56,534 (5,682)
(Under)/Over provision in respect BAEFE (BETR) BEEE
of prior years (2,294) 20
Tax credit/(charge) for the year FEHRBEESL (FAX) 86,506 (80,676)

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%)
of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

FERNE

i T0 1% R {8 F B 2 (5T R AT R v R A
16.5% (Z T —+F:16.5% ) ZFH Rt E -
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13. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
was based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$1,041,708,000 (2017: profit of HK$355,764,000).

31 March 2018 HZ—_ZE— \F=A=+—HIFE

13. k&
EETREENBE-_F— \FR-F—+L&E=
A=+—RALFEZRE -

14. 8 (FBR) B
BREARES (BB) /BFTIREARARE
B AJE(HE5181,041,708,0008 0 (— T — &
i M355,764,00058 7T ) 5 & o

Number of shares

R4 #E
2018 2017
=E-N\F —E—+F
’000 000
TR F %
Weighted average number of ARG EEREREFH
ordinary shares for the purpose of LR T
basic earnings per share 2,257,666 2,074,302
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares #5#E £ LMk ERENTZE
Share options = 4,221
Weighted average number of RARTESREERN G
ordinary shares for the purpose of B AR I AE T
diluted earnings per share 2,257,666 2,078,523

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options since their
assumed exercise would result in a decrease in loss per
share for the year ended 31 March 2018.

AEEREEERRYBRRAR A BERERT
E AARKREETESERBE_T—N\F=
A=t—BULFEZEREBEERD -
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mEMBHRME

15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors
The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable by the
Company during the years are as follows:

15. EEREEBREHFEEMS

(a) ES

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

AERARNAREN 2 E@EMT

2018 2017
—E-)\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Fees e

Executive directors WITES 360 360
Non-executive directors EMITES 450 604
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITEE 360 390
1,170 1,354

Other emoluments H Bl &
Basic salaries and other benefits HAFH & REAEF 260 260
Retirement scheme contributions RORTE T FT B 17 30
277 290
1,447 1,644

No directors waived any emoluments and no emoluments
were paid to the directors as inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the year (2017: nil).

FALEEENETMNNES TEANEEX
B 2 A e 51 18 5 hn BE AN SR B X 1 /3 In B

B R HRBAEE

ZE—LFE)
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%éﬂji%iﬁ %‘% Bﬁ EI For the year ended 31 March 2018 H{=—E— \F=HA=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued)

15. EERTEBEHEEME (&)

(a) E= (&)
ENKENTNAE(ZE—tF: \RB)EF

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight

(2017: eight) directors are as follows:

gFazZMewT:

2018 2017
“B-NE Z—ZT—+tF
Basic
salaries Retirement
and other scheme Total Total
Fees benefits  contributions emoluments  emoluments
EXES RIKEF
e  REMEF FEIfT [k BemE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEL TR T THR FHEL
Executive directors HITES
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee BREREHE 360 - - 360 360
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liao Jintian BRAE 120 260 13 393 393
Ms. Lee Kar Ying (note i) ZmMe Rt (M) 84 - 88 381
Mr. Wu Qi REEE 120 - - 120 120
Mr. Fong On Shek (note i) FRA%E (Hitii) 126 - - 126 =
Sub-total et 450 260 17 727 894
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Tsang Hin Man Terence (note i) SEXEE (Hiti) - - - - 30
Mr. Luk Simon BEREEE 120 - - 120 120
Ms. Liu Xiaoyin ZER T 120 - - 120 120
Mr. Hon Leung BrkE 120 - - 120 120
Sub-total et 360 - - 360 390
Total k] 1,170 260 17 1,447 1,644
Notes: Kiat -
i. Resigned on 30 June 2016 i. RZE—R"ENA=THEE
ii. Resigned on 30 June 2017 i. RZTE—EFA=THEME

ii.  Appointed on 19 July 2017

E—tELATNBEZE
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,2,51-\ ’é‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ 43):2 Bﬂ' %I For the year ended 31 March 2018 #E—F— \F=A=1+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 15. EER T EBSFREEME (&)

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (a)
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for
the executive directors are generally emoluments paid
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2017: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining three
(2017: two) individuals were as follows:

BE= (&)

XNFRTEEZH S RHREVNER
REZFALREBEARARR REKE QA
ZEBEER 2 BAMIR M — RS B
ZME -

TEEEFES
AEEREERFEET ME(ZT—+
FZR)RAARESR K2 HN L5
AWM -HEB=ZF(ZT—tF WE)EAZ
BT

2018 2017

—E-)\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FB T FiET

Basic salaries and other benefits EXF S REAMETR 1,373 1,851
Contributions to retirements benefits & K43 Fl 51 = £ 7%

scheme 47 35

1,420 1,886

The number of the highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 7T £1,000,000% 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £1,500,0007% 7T

URTIMeHEE s ZRRHEEABRET

2018 2017
—B-N\&E i
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi# FHT

3 1

0 1

No emoluments were paid to these individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office for the year (2017: Nil).

RAFE - I 8 @ 51 8 A A B S AR 5
HEMBAEEKERMBRZ BENEE
BHE(Z=—tF &)
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ﬁ%éﬂjj’%iﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2018 #iZE—ZT— \F=A=+—HI-FE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ BERRE

Motor
vehicle Total
RE war
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—XEMA—H 405 405
Disposal HE (405) (405)
At 31 March 2017 and 2018 RZB-—tFR-ZFB-NF
=Z=A=+—8 - -
Accumulated depreciation and ZWEREE
impairment
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—XFWMA—H 405 405
Eliminated on disposal B IR T 8 (405) (405)

At 31 March 2017 and 2018

RZE—tER=-ZZT—N\EF
=A=+-—H

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2018

R E B
R=ZB-NF=ZHA=+—H

At 31 March 2017

R-ZF—tF=ZA=1+—8
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mEMBHRME

17.

18.

DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
INVESTMENTS

The balance was unsecured, interest-free, refundable, and
paid as earnest deposits for capital injection into an investee.
Upon completion, the Group own 28% of the investee at a
consideration of HK$20,000,000. The investee is principally
engaged in dealing in securities and advising on securities
in Hong Kong. Certain completion conditions have not been
satisfied as at 31 March 2017. During the reporting period,
those completion conditions were satisfied and the deposit
paid has been transferred and recognised as part of the costs

of available-for-sale investments.

17.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HEZ—Z— \F=FA=+—HILFE

RBBREXNES

ZHBELDEER 28 AEK URERIEE
ERERFANBEEN REKE AEEK
A &R E R B m28% R4 - {8 520,000,000
B -BRERFTIEREEREESEELI
EFRUABR - BETEREHER_F—LF=H
=t HEARER - RREHME A5
DEER MENRSDER ARREAHD
EREZRAN—FS -

e
A% =F JT

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 18. A ERE
Available-for-sale investments comprise: AEEERERRE:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Unlisted equity securities, at cost JEEMRAES - KA 119,023 149,023
Less: fair value adjustment B AT EAE (18,011) (17,308)
101,012 131,715
The above available-for-sale investments were measured at LA ERE USSR ERMERE AT
fair values at the end of each reporting period. The information B2 - BEAFEFEZENRZSHEEYB
for the fair value measurement had been disclosed in note 7(i) R EET()HEE -

in these consolidated financial statements.
For unlisted equity instruments, there was no objective
evidence of impairment (including whether there was a
significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the securities
below their costs).

MRIFLTRATAMS LEEBRETR (B
BESAFERERBARG TREENEK
) e
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mEMBHRME

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(continued)
Details of principal unlisted equity securities held by the
Group which are also included in the list of the 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2018, as disclosed
in note 20, are as follows:

Percentage of
Name of investee Place of incorporation/ effective
companies establishment Number of share held interest held
ERENTLR HERAL/ ALY gt k€ FEERERAAL

2018 2017 2018 2017

S2-N\E ZE-tF ZR-NE CRtF =

Peak Zone Group Limited  British Virgin Islands 2,500 2,500 25.00% 25.00%
(note a)
Peak Zone Group Limited ~ XER%ES
///W#Ea /;
Help U Credit Finance Hong Kong - 41,666 - 28.08%
Limited (note b)
EARBERLA (M) FE
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 28,000 - 28.00% -
(note ¢)
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ XBRRZEE
///W#EC/\
Amuse Group Holding Cayman Islands 1,500 1,500 15% 15%
Limited (notes d and f)
AEEERRERAA AERS
(Witdkf)
Wingate Holdings Limited ~ Samoa 3,000 3,000 30% 30%
(note ¢)

Wingate Holdings Limited ~ EZ3
(Hiite)

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

18. AIHERE (F)

AEBFFHZEEFRLTRAES (HIIALE
BRZZE—N\F=ZA=+—BHZ10EHAKE (I
MI7E20FTIRER) ) 2R BT ¢

Net assets

attributable to

At cost Fair value adjustment At fair value the investments

S LVERR A¥E REELEERE
2018 2017 2018 217 2018 217 2018 2017
R-NE “TF ZR-NE CTtF Z®-NE Tt ZR-NE ST
HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000
TR TiEn TR ThEn TER ThEn Tin TEn
75,000 75,000 (34,050)  (24,000) 40,950 51,000 1,901 1,454
- 50,000 - - - 50,000 - 19,399
20,000 - 2,512 - 2,512 - 16,085 -
9,000 9,000 12,650 6,500 21,650 15,500 10,595 8,958
15,023 15,023 871 192 15,900 15,215 97 152
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(continued)
Note:

(@) Peak Zone Group Limited (“Peak Zone”), a private company with
limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of integrated application. As disclosed in note 4,
the Group has not been in a position to exercise any significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of Peak Zone.
Accordingly, investment in Peak Zone has been classified upon
initial recognition as an available-for-sale financial asset.

(b) Help U Credit Finance Limited (“Help U Credit”), a private
company with limited liability, it is principally engaged in money
lending. As disclosed in note 4, the Group has not been in a
position to exercise any significant influence over the financial
and operating policies of Help U Credit. Accordingly, investment
in Help U Credit has been classified upon initial recognition
as an available-for-sale financial asset. During the year, the
Group disposed the whole investment in Help U Credit at a
consideration of HK$50,000,000.

(c) Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”), a private
Company with limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in dealing in securities, advising on securities and asset
management. As disclose in note 4, the Group has not been in
a position to exercise any significant influence over the financial
and operating policies of Prominent Alliance. Accordingly,
investment in Prominent Alliance has been classified upon initial
recognition as an available-for-sale financial asset.

(d) Amuse Group Holding Limited (“Amuse”), a private company
with limited liability, is a Hong Kong-based toy company which
principally engaged in design, marketing, distribution and retail
sales of toys and related products. As disclosed in note 4, the
Group has not been in a position to exercise any significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of Amuse.
Accordingly, investment in Amuse has been classified upon initial
recognition as an available-for-sale financial asset.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HEZ—Z— \F=FA=+—HILFE

18. AT HERE (&)

(@)

(c)

Peak Zone Group Limited ([Peak Zone ) &—
XRABREAAR -EMNBRAREZNEFRME
ERERER RO FATEE  AEE W &Y
Peak Zone 7 81 15 B EBUR TR EMEARXE
At - A Peak Zone Z AN B R ERFHIE T
RAHHEMBEE-

HEAVBERRAR ([BEAMBD A—RRBAER
EEAR EERFMEER - MM T4FT T -
RNEEN EEE AN B2 M REEBCRITES
ﬁiﬁ%%’“llﬁt*E@EAEM%Z&QH’:‘E/AEEE@\
REWETANHLENBEE-FR AEELE
EGEJ\EM‘%Z% % & - 18 A50,000,0007 7T °

Prominent Alliance Limited ([Prominent
Alliance | » —RILABREERE) KEHE LA
EREEFFRG HEBFRHEARREHREE
EIE o AN FTAPTHEER - AR & B I K ¥ Prominent
Alliance M) EA 15 R (& B R IT R EMERTZE S -
it - A Prominent Alliance 2 % B ) # R
DERAHEENBEE -

BRERZERERAR (AR B —RLAFR
BEERARRERMAAR TERER E#H-
DELTETARBRER - BIAM T4 R E
AR B EA N B SOE E R AT AR ] &2

FE-FM RNARZKRENBERERFRETE
AAIHHENBEE-
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18.

19.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 18. It HERE (&)

(continued)

Note: (continued) MaE: (&)

(e) Wingate Holdings Limited (“Wingate”), a private company with (e) Wingate Holdings Limited ([ Wingate | ) & —Z fA
limited liability, is principally engaged in property investment, AEREELR FEXREVERE BEEER
asset management and provision of financial services. As RESBHBRE -BOAMFIMEE AEETEY
disclosed in note 4, the Group has not been in a position Wingate 2 1 % RBIERERITREMERTE - A
to exercise any significant influence over the financial and Il - M Wingate 2 #% & 7 B X i R I 3 3% TF & 0] 4
operating policies of Wingate. Accordingly, investment in Wingate HEMBEE-
has been classified upon initial recognition as an available-for-
sale financial asset.

(f)  During the year ended 31 March 2018, dividend of HK$900,000 fH REEZ=ZFT-—N\F=ZA=1+—HLFE 86HK
was received from Amuse Group Holding Limited (2017: nil). SEEREBER A FKERARE900,0008 7T (ZF

—tFE) o

FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 19. KEEBE-VKEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong, REB LM ZRARS RATE

at fair value 180,487 1,305,365

The fair values of these listed securities are determined ZELMESF2ATENDRBEARSEHRZEA

based on the quoted market bid prices at the end of each HMMBEAEBET BOMF23IMHEE - A&

reporting period. The Group has pledged certain financial 15 AR F1E 4937,513,0008 L (=T — X~ F:

assets held for trading with carrying amount of approximately 271,921,000 7C) 2 &5 THRIEEBE 2 MG EELE

HK$37,513,000 (2016: HK$271,921,000) to secure margin EHR-ERENRESZE M-

payables as disclosed in note 23.

103



104

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

B R B E & B A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

R

5

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING

(continued)

Details of principal listed equity securities held by the Group

as at 31 March 2018, which are also included in the list of the

10 largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2018, as

disclosed in note 20, are as follows:

Place of
Name of investee company incorporation
ERENAER FEAR AR 3 4 B
WLS Holdings Limited (nofe a) Bermuda
EEZRERRA (Hia) ARE

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited Bermuda
(note b)
PEEAXNEBERAR (Hiy) BEREE

Power Financial Group Limited Bermuda
(note c)

EREREBAERAR (Hic) BRE

China Jicheng Holdings Limited Cayman Islands
(note d)
PEEKERERAR (Hid) MERS

China Kingstone Mining Holdings Cayman Islands
Limited (note e)
PEERBEXBRAERDA (Hie) HEHS

China 33 Media Group Limited Cayman Islands
(note f)
TE--EESEERLNA (HF) REES

Number of
share held

FERH#E

422,400

75,010,000

120,010,000

169,450,000

113,520,000

374,122,000

Percentage
of interest
held
iR
Bl

2.94%

2.73%

3.89%

4.21%

4.01%

6.50%

19. FEERE2UMHEE (&)

REER_Z-N\F=ZA=+T—HFBZEIEL

(T AREBBE_Z—\F=A

=+—BZI0BERARE (MK E0HHE) )2
HEMT

Cost

RA
HK$'000
THER

72,605

22,687

38,437

21,894

20,744

49,618

Accumulated
unrealised
gain/(loss)
EEES 3]

B8/ (B8

HK$'000
TR

(52,328)

7,317

(12,065)

(10,254)

(11,890)

(30912)

Market value

T
HK$'000
TERL

20,277

30,004

26,372

11,640

8,854

18,706

Net assets
attributable
to the
investments
REEL
EERE
HK$'000
TR

23,001

16,582

78,320

22,266

(19,714)

35,095

Dividend
received

during
the year

FREURRE
HK$'000
TEL
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING

(continued)
Notes:

A brief description of the business and financial information of the

listed investee companies, based on their latest published annual

report are as follows:

(a)

WLS Holding Limited (“WLS”) is principally engaged in
construction business including scaffolding and fitting out,
management contracting services and equipment installation
and maintenance services. The audited consolidated loss
attributable to shareholders of WLS for the year ended 30 April
2017 was approximately HK$16 million (2016: approximately
HK$18 million). At 30 April 2017, the audited consolidated net
asset value of WLS was approximately HK$782 million (2016:
approximately HK$796 million).

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (formerly known as
“RCG Holdings Limited”) (“China e-Wallet”) is principally
engaged in the provision of biometric and RFID products and
solution services. The audited consolidated loss attributable to
shareholders of RCG for the year ended 31 December 2017
was approximately HK$393 million (2016: HK$177 million). At
31 December 2017, the audited consolidated net asset value of
RCG was approximately HK$607 million (2016: approximately
HK$898 million).

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”) (previously
known as Jun Yang Financial Holdings Limited) is principally
engaged in business of financial services, asset management
and investment and money lending. For the financial year ended
31 December 2017, the audited consolidated loss attributable
to shareholders of Power Financial was approximately HK$912
million (2016: approximately HK$928 million). As at 31
December 2017, its audited consolidated net assets attributable
to the shareholder was approximately HK$2,014 million (2016:
HK$2,874 million)

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

19. KEEE2UMHKEE (&)

Hiat:

REBEHERE LM ARSIMTEZFH ZFAF
ZEBRUBBEERBERET

ERERERAR([ER]) EEXHEEETE
EB (BEMERZEREERY) EEEORYG
REMTZEREERE REE-F—tFMA
—tHEFE - ERZBRREBLHEEZREEE
#/16,000,0005% 7T ( —Z — 7 4F : 918,000,000
BIL) RZE—+tFWA=+H ERZERZ
SRAEEEFELHT782,000,0008 7T (ZT—RF:
#7796,000,000% 7T ) °

TEEROXNEEERAR (B ZBHBE
B(ER)BERAR]) (FEER)EBHRER
HAEYMHBRIRRFID ESERBRFRRE REZRE
T tHF+ZA=t+-BLEE EFHEIRRE
JE(E R B Z AR A B84 /393,000,000 7T (= F
— /"% 177,000,000 T) - R=ZF—EF+=
A=Z+—R ZBZREERRAEEFENR
607,000,000/ 7t ( =& — /X 4F : £7898,000,000/%
TT) e

BReREEERAR(EREmM]) (FIBE
BEMEREBRANEIEEBASRRE &
EEBERRENRBER -RBE-_T—tF+=
A=T—BLUVBFE ERE/RZKREERERL
EZGFA KB4 5912,000,0008 T (2T — K
4 1 #9928,000,000% ) - R =T —+F+ = A
=T B REEBERBERGAEEFENR
2,014,000,0007% 7r ( == — /X 4 : 2,874,000,000
BT °
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(d)

China Jicheng Holdings Limited (“Jicheng”) (previously known
as Jicheng Umbrella Holdings Limited) is principally engaged
in manufacturing of POE and Nylon umbrella. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2017, the audited consolidated profit
attributable to shareholders of Jicheng was approximately HK$4
million (2016: approximately HK$7 million). As at 31 December
2017, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to the
shareholder was approximately HK$529 million (2016:HK$517
million).

China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited (“China Kingstone”)
is principally engaged in business of marble production. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to shareholders of China Kingstone
was approximately HK$2 million (2016: approximately HK$153
million). As at 31 December 2017, its audited consolidated
net assets attributable to the shareholder was approximately
HK$492 million (2016:HK$203 million).

China 33 Media Group Limited (“China 33”) is a dominant
channel media provider in railway sector. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2017, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to shareholders of China 33 was approximately
HK$43 million (2016: approximately HK$71 million). As at
31 December 2017, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to the shareholder was approximately HK$540
million (2016:HK$620 million).

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #Z= - —

19. HEE

(d)

NF=ZA=+—HILFE

BEoUBEE (&)

Kzt (&)

PRESEKERBERAR ([S£K]) (FIEEmRZE
ERERAR) EEXBREEPOE REEMNE-
RBE-_Z—+t&+_A=+—ALTKREE"
F K2 IR FE (L 48 TR 4R A R I 4 /4,000,000
BT (ZZF — N 47,000,000 7T) - R =
—t&+=-A=+—8 'Hﬁiﬁéfﬁmﬁﬁf@%/\
& EFE# A529,000,0008 0 (ZF — AN &
517,000,000/ 7T.) °

FESABEERERQARA([FE2E])E
EEBAEERBR - REBEE-_T—tF+=
B=+—BLtHREE qﬂl%EZl&%ﬁé{E
KERZIEA BB L A2,000,0008 T (=T — X
4 1 #9153,000,0008 L) - R=_T—+tF+=A
E+-B BRREEEERGAEEFTAENR
492,000,000 jt ( == — /X %F : 203,000,000
TT) e

PR ZEEEEARARA([FRE=Z=]) AH
BOENTERERBUHER -REE_T—t
ET A=+ —BLEWBEE FE=ZZ=KRR
FEAE E E 247 A BB 4 /43,000,000 T (= F
— 754 1 4971,000,0008 L) - R=—F—tF+=
A=+—H REABELEERZGEEAEEFELR
540,000,000/ 7T (=2 — /X : 620,000,000/
TT) e
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20. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HELD BY THE GROUP

20 XEEFRFETEREZFHE

£ W

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12 BIEEMBNEN1N2E2H/E AEERER =
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all - N\FZA=t+—HEERRASEEERE
investments with a value greater than 5 per cent of the 5% ZFiBIRAEER R 10EZAREEHNAT

Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments as
at 31 March 2018 are as follows:

As at 31 March 2018 R=ZZB-NF=A=+—8
Dividend/
Interest
Name of investee companies Cost Fair value received
2 W E
BRENTER A ATE  RE/AE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FET
Peak Zone Group Limited (note 18(a)) Peak Zone Group Limited ( #7:#18(a)) 7,500 40,950 =

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited FEEBSNEBBRAR (HE190b))

(note 19(b)) 22,687 30,004 -
Power Financial Group Limited (note 19(c)) #BEBMEBFR AR (A#i19(c)) 38,437 26,372 =
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 18 (c)) Prominent Alliance Limited ( #77£18(c)) 20,000 22,512 =
Amuse Group Holding Limited (note 18(d)) B EEZERER QA (f7:#18(d)) 9,000 21,650 900
WLS Holdings Limited (note 19(a)) EEZERARDE (MiE19(a)) 72,605 20,277 =
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 19(f))  FEI==EEEEHFR AR (HiF19(0)) 49,618 18,706 =
Wingate Holdings Limited (note 18(e)) Wingate Holdings Limited (#77£18(e)) 15,023 15,900 -
China Jicheng Holdings Limited (note 19(d)) = EIEMKIZRER AR (#i£19(d)) 21,894 11,640 =
China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited FEEABERRBRAR (HiE19(6))

(note 19(e)) 20,744 8,854 -
OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 21, Hh BRI IE BN RERRE
DEPOSITS

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

Other receivables H i i W SR8 103,880 135,937
Deposits paid BEffike 20 4
Financial assets g EE 103,900 135,941
Prepayments TE 1 RIE 26 11
103,926 135,952
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21.

22.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 21. HibEWRE - ERARERERSE (&)
DEPOSITS (continued)
Other receivables represent the consideration receivable HEmEWRIBREAEENB AR mME LHEA
arising from the disposal of available-for-sale investments HEEREEEACRERRRE ZERERAEK
through disposal of subsidiaries. The amounts are unsecured, W R2ERAR—FABE- AEB 2 HME
interest-free and repayable within one year. Included in the WHRIEEHT TEEELAE(ZZ—tF:4
Group’s other receivables balance, there has no aggregate 135,937,000/ 70 ) 2 RN ME BHAD @ H - ik
carrying amount (2017: approximately HK$135,937,000) which AEBYABEREERE AEBNYERZSTHE
are past due as at the reporting date for which the Group BRE/EAMNERR BRZEEHRENREER
has not provided impairment loss. The Group does not hold BBE AULEERAEZEEHNRMESBBNE
any collateral over these balances. The directors considered AT e o
these balances are still recoverable as at the reporting date
as these balances were settled subsequent to the end of the
reporting period.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. BERAEEEY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Cash and bank balances Re RRITET 4,149 14,186
Deposits at other financial institution REMESBEE 2 TR 31,259 9,603
35,408 23,789

Included in cash and cash equivalents were approximately
HK$267,000 (2017: HK$267,000) denominated in USD, a
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant

group entity.

The effective interest rate of the deposits ranges from 0.01%
to 0.5% (2017: 0.01% to 0.5%) per annum and all of them
have a maturity within three months from initial inception.

AR RRSEEYE H 4267,000% T (=
T — 4 : 267,000/ 7T) AETT M IEA B B &
EERBNEBTE:

FRZEBEFNENF00MEZ0S5E(ZF—+
F00MER05E) MBEFRRVNERERD
R=EARNEH-
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23. MARGIN PAYABLES
Margin payables represents margin loans arising from the
trading of listed investments which are repayable on demand.
No ageing analysis is disclosed in respect of margin payables.
In opinion of the Directors, an ageing analysis does not give
additional value in view of the Group’s business nature.

24. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 H &2 —Z— \F=F=+—HILFE

23. EREE
ENRESAREELTRASIBZARESER
BRARBLERTDN ERFER - I EA R R
FERBEREIM - EERR RROMEAE
%i%’\‘%’féﬁﬁaT\@ibD%Eﬁ\\{Eﬁ‘v

24 FEEHREEE
ERRACIEEEHERERAERENAEE
CHEBZBHIMT -

Net
unrealised
gain on
financial
assets held

for trading Tax losses Total

BEEEZ

MBEEEZ
REEILRFHE BEESE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEIT FHET FET
At 1 April 2016 R-ZE—RFEMNA—H 13,749 (5,645) 8,104
Charged to profit or loss for the year 4 AR EF R 91,670 (10,974) 80,696

At 31 March 2017 and at 1 April 2017 R-ZE—+F=A=+—8Bx

RZZE—+tFMmA—H 105,419 (16,619) 88,800
Charged to profit or loss for the year 4 RPN EZF R (105,419) 16,619 (88,000)
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE-NF=A=+—H - - -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused T BA A 48 SR - AN &R (B 9 /B T 3 8 R 2R s )

tax losses of approximately HK$401,200,000 (2017:
HK$191,047,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
(2017: approximately HK$100,723,000) of such losses. No
deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$401,200,000 (2017: HK$90,684,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams. All unrecognised tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

ZAB AR IBEIE L A401,200,0008 T (= Z
—+ 4 191,047,000 7T) - WA B RAKGE (=

—+ & :49100,723,000/8 70 ) HERE L7 H
BE-ARNARRBENREERMG WABRBT
401,200,000/ 7T ( == —+4 : 90,684,000/ 7T )
ERELEHBEE FIARERRIEEBG AU
IR ARSI o
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24. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible

25.

temporary difference of approximately HK$286,522,000
(2017: HK$1,948,000) arising from the net unrealised loss on
financial assets held for trading. No deferred tax assets have

been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HEZ—Z— \F=FA=+—HILFE

24, BEHRBEE (F)

REEHRERE AEEREEREEE M
BEEZABAEBRFFEL ZAHNREREZR
#) /3286,522,000/% 7T ( == —+ 4 : 1,948,000
BIL) cHR AN AABER AN E 5 Z AT -
2 ERBOE MR RABR BB INHE

difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be RNEERRRCEREELE -
available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised.
SHARE CAPITAL 25. IR
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.05 each
BREE
0.05% T2
ZBEREAE
‘000 HK$’000
T & FET
Authorised: EE -
At 1 April 2016, R-ZE-—XRXFMNA—RB ZZT—tF
31 March 2017 and 2018 E=—EB-NE=ZA=+—H 24,000,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRHE -
At 1 April 2016 R-ZZE—XFWMA—H 1,881,666 94,083
Issue of shares under placement (note a) 1RIBERERITIRG (Hita) 376,000 18,800
At 31 March 2017 and 2018 R-B-—tFERZZB-N\F
=A=+-—H 2,257,666 112,883
Note: Hrat -
(@) On 26 September 2016, 376,000,000 ordinary shares of (@) RZT—R"FNHA=+7H" 376,000,000 &

HK$0.05 each were issued and allotted, pursuant to the placing
agreement entered into by the Company on 9 September
2016. The placing price was HK$0.22 per share and the net
proceeds of approximately HK$81.1 million was intended to
be used for the general working capital of the Group and for
future investments pursuant to the investment objectives of the
Company. These new shares rank pari passu in all aspect with
the then existing shares.

REE.OSE T2 EBBRBEARTRZZE—~
FRNANBRI L ZRERE FTURE REIT-
REBASRBMD022BTRMEBREFELN
81,100,000 TH AEREB 2 —MREEE S
RBBEARARZEREBEBRERKEE -ZEH
BHREHFERERZBEITRNZE RS-
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 26. BRESTE

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 29 August
2013 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to outside third parties for settlement in respect of
goods or services provided to the Company.

At 31 March 2018, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme was 225,000,000 (2017: 188,000,000), representing
approximately 9.97% (2017: 8.33%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued and
to be issued in respect of which options granted and may
be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option to the second anniversary of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors, and
will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Details of options granted to consultants on 9 November 2017
are as follows:

9 November 2017
Immediate

Date of grant
Vesting period
Exercise period 2 years from the date of grant

Exercise price HK$0.085

AArEBEESE ([ZFAE)DRER=-F
—ZFNAZTABEBBZRERTUERS =
ZEAMTMEERAERERREAE RIEZX
B ARREERNURAERER (BEAR
AREMBARER) R TARBARRKN
BRRE LN RRBAAERIRE=TERE
B UWEBRETARANEYH R -

RZE-NF=ZA=Z+—H ZFEETHE
BREREMKRTEBREMSROKROEE &
225,000,000/% ( == —+ 4 : 188,000,000% ) -
HERAARAREBBEETRN Z49.97% (=ZF
—+HF:8.33%) c & EIAIE L 2 BREFTS &
2R BB REARDRIRE BB AT
AIFEETSBBARARREBITRM 210% - »
FR—FERTRAIETFEMERALZERE
ISRz BBEITRETFETROHBE EREAR
RIREELRIOER  REMKEETEBREAR
AEBITRMNZ1% °

BREANREBBE21IBAR XN ERE
1B TT T AR A - BB AT XX B A i B 1
RERLDARE _EABF L ARERITE 176
EHEFERET ETSERTIZESE (i)
BRWRE L BB ZWHE: () RHOREERRL B
AIREEER 2 PR HE: RO zmE-

Rt &E+— AN RE TR R ESE
o

R H B —E—tFt—ANR
55 5 1 BB
1T{E 5 IR A B M
TE(E 0.085/8 7T
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

26. ERERTE (&)

The following table discloses movement of the Company’s
share option granted on 9 November 2017 during the year:

TREBARAR-T—tF+—ANBEMZ
BREN N2

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT T

Outstanding at the beginning of the year R F#) KR 1T1E 188,000 =

Lapsed during the year FRBRK (188,000) =

Granted during the year FRERH 225,000 188,000
Outstanding and exercisable RERBARITHERA TITHE

at the end of the year 225,000 188,000

No share option was exercised during the year ended
31 March 2018. Accordingly, no weighted average share price
at the date of exercise presented.

The fair value of share options granted on 9 November 2017
were calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

Fair value HK$0.0089
Share price HK$0.0850
Exercise price HK$0.0850
Expected volatility 113%
Expected life 2 years
Risk-free rate 1.029%
Expected dividend yield Nil

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous
2 years. Change in subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

The Group recognised the total expenses of HK$2,003,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$395,000) in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

RBE-B—\FZA=1— B FEEHER
B IR A 1T 68 0 BRI S 4R 2 5T 8 B 2 00 4R
TR -

R_B—+tE+—ANARE 2ERERATLET
FEA—BAAECEEAGFE - ZERNFEFRZEH
ABHEWT

NS 0.0089/% 7T
fi% (& 0.0850/% 7T
TEE 0.08507% 7T
T8 HR 18 113%
BT 57 21
#E [3 b A1) 1.029%
TEHARR B K =

TR T3 B 0 N 2 R B 1 P 2 R
SRR ERBA G ORD A LY ATE
EHHEREATE -

AREBRBE_T—N\FZA=1T—BLLFER
ARE R 2 8B RER 2R 2,003,000 T
(ZZ—+4%:395,000/%7T) °
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27. RESERVES 27. f#&
Available-
for-sale Retained
Share investment earnings/
Share options  revaluation (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses) Total
AftHE RERRM/
RHEE BRERE REEMEE (RHER) @5

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TEL TAL TAT

(note a)
(Hiza)
At 1 April 2016 RZE-REMA—H 852,221 - (19,250) 49,283 882,254
Profit for the year FERRET - - - 355,764 355,764
Other comprehensive income: AZENE:
Net gain arising on revaluation of FRRERTREERE
available-for-sale investments during the year MEEZERFE - - 1,942 - 1,942
Reclassification adjustments relating to BENITREEREFEFEL
impairment of available-for-sale investments BN ERE
during the year - - 24,000 - 24,000
Other comprehensive income for the year EREMZENRE - - 25,942 - 25,942
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZANREE - - 25,942 355,764 381,706
Issue of shares under placing of shares REREROHETRR 63,920 - - = 63,920
Transaction cost on placing of shares RERNZRAMA (1,661) - - = (1,661)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BANRELEE RN BERZHR

payments - 395 - - 395
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27.

28.

B & ® & & B & R 2~ 3

RESERVES (continued) 27. f#%¥E (4E)
Available-
for-sale Retained
Share investment earnings/
Share options  revaluation (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses) Total
e  REERA/
RGEE  BRERE REEGRE (RHER) H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHL FHEL FHL THET
(note a)
(Biza)
At 31 March 2017 and at 1 April 2017 R-E-t§=A=1+-BkK
R-E-t§MA-A 914,480 395 6,692 405,047 1,326,614
Loss for the year ERER - - - (1,04,708)  (1,041,708)
Other comprehensive income: Atz EWE:
Net gain arising on revaluation of FREMRTHLEREEER
available-for-sale in vestments during the year ## B% - - 9,347 - 9,347
Other comprehensive income for the year EREpzEKE - - 9,347 - 9,347
Total comprehensive incomel(expense) FREEME/ (BX)4H
for the year - - 9347  (1,041708)  (1,032,361)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BRAURELEUARBAER 2
payments - 2,003 - - 2,003
Lapse of share options BREXN - (395) - 395 -
At 31 March 2018 R-E-N§=A=1-H 914,480 2,003 16,039 (636,266) 296,256
Note: B s

(@) The available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve represents
cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of
available-for-sale investments that have been recognised in
other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to
profit or loss when those available-for sale investments are
disposed of or are determined to be impaired.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of approximately HK$409,139,000 (2017:
HK$1,439,497,000) by the number of shares in issue at
31 March 2018, being 2,257,666,000 (2017: 2,257,666,000).

28.

(a) AHHERBEEARBRBEIRRREM2EEEF
BRZARHERBENEGMELEZ R ERER
ER-EHELUSFEAHBEEREIMEAHEE
RERERER HFRESEH I EERE-

BREEFE
BREEFEDSEAEVBERRERAMEA 2
B EF{E 4409,139,0008 7T (=T — L 4F:
1,439,497,0008 T)BR AR = —\NF=HA
=+—HAB#ETKHEE2,257,666,0000% (==
—+ % :2,257,666,000/%) &£ 15 -



Annual R rt
2017/18 e,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
% ’é‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2018 =~ T —N\F=A=+—RHI-FE

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BEAERS

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group
had entered into the following transactions with the investment
manager of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors,
were carried out on normal commercial terms and in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business:

BE T N\FR-_ZT—tF=A=+—HIHF
F§*'$%liﬁi2ﬁ¢l&§%‘ﬁﬁﬂib{?“%'i
ERR MERGINAEEAAEEREENRK
EEEEGIUETT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited R E Y KZE% (F8) AR AT
Investment manager’s fee KREKEBER 960 960
Note: Bet

The Company has entered into the agreement with China Everbright
Securities (HK) Limited (“EBSHK”) on 6 November 2012, pursuant to
which EBSHK agreed to provide investment management services to
the Company for a period of three years from 6 November 2012, and
extended for further three years ending 5 November 2018.

EBSHK shall be deemed as a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules upon the agreement
becoming effective. The maximum aggregate fee to be payable by the
Group to EBSHK shall not exceed HK$960,000 per annum.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company considered
that the above investment management agreements are in the best
interests of the Company and were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary course of business of the Company and that
investment management fee are calculated in accordance with
the above agreements and are fair and reasonable so far as the
Shareholders are concerned.

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the directors of the Company and certain of the highest paid
employees are disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ARAFRZE——F+— A NAEBERAES (FH)

BRAF([REXKEBEFTIHE Bt REX

AEBHFAERAARCRRHEREERERE B —=F

T—ABABREHASH-F YEE—FEH=-F =
—N\E+—RAHR-

RzBpEERE PEXAKEFHFBRE LTRSS
2113 B AR RBBEAL - AELEBFSFEXMNTH
BXAEHF2EARSBETEBIR60,0007% 7T

ARRBUFATEERALAREERHAETA
RABEMNGR URARFDAFEBBREPRESTHE
GREIS MIREEREBRRE i pEAE - Wk
RMEBAFARE-

TEERABZME BHENTARRAEZRETS
SmEEEZFRIERBENGE M B BRI T15 -
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30.

31.

32.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of the Group (the
employer) and its employees makes monthly contributions
to the Scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
The contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per
month since 1 June 2015 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 March 2018 amounted to
HK$57,000 (2017: HK$92,000), representing contributions
payable to the Scheme by the Group in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2018.

30.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HEZ—Z— \F=FA=+—HILFE

ERERGE

AEBRE CEFlIEATELEEI) RATBSR
BEEREESMEEHRA R ERAE ST
([5H81]) FrEEEHRASBMZEESRAIF AL
GRETABEZES - REFE &8 (EEX)
HEEBAHCREBABE (EER GatlER
BesrEEA) ) 25% HatltE K- B E A
EBEBAZABHEIEZE—RAF A — Eltf
% A1,5008 T AR - ZH 2 HARB AR I
EERRERATBRMA TR FERHMHR-

BE_ZTZ-/\FZA=Z+T—HLEFEREAK
R 2 B4 R57,0008 7T (Z 2 —+F:
92,0008 L) RRAEBERBE_T— \F=HA
=t—HALFERRAIHN 2 HK-

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. EREE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of W EEAXZEARY
acquisition of investments - 16,000
OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT 32. REMHEAE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group was committed Aiﬁziﬁﬂ 4SRN EEEBRIRE T Al B

to make the following future minimum lease payments in
respect of rented premises under non-cancellable operating
lease which fall due as follow:

LHERBEMEREL TIRKKEHEENRZ
AT RAT

2018 2017

—Z-N\F —+fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Within one year —F A 90 -
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_ZERF (BREEEMF) 30 =
120 —

Lease is negotiated and rental are fixed for lease term of two
years.

HETD&ER MmFEHANE S EE -
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2018 and 2017
are as follows:

Particulars of

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=A=1+—HILFE

B ARAFTEMBLRRZHE

RZE—NEFR_ZT—+F=ZA=Z+—HB2Z=xE
B AR FEIBFES T

Interest held Principal activities

s zEsR FEER
2018 2017
—BE-N\E —T—+#F

100% 100% Trading of securities

100% 100% #HHEE

100% 100% Trading of securities
& investment
holding

100% 100% HHFEBERKREER

100% 100% Investment
holding

100% 100% EER

100% 100% Investment holding

100% 100% REER

Place of issued share

Name of subsidiary incorporation capital

MELRER E B 37 3t B EBRITRAFE
Directly hold:

BEERFH:

Garron Consultancy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares

HK$1

ZHEBEHRARAT BB ERR1ET

New Express Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares

HK$1

MBREBRAA BB TER1ET

Jetland Global Investments Ltd  The British Ordinary shares of

Virgin Islands US$1 each

REBRUES il

BREE1ET

Baiye Holdings Limited The British Ordinary shares of

Virgin Islands US$1 each

EBERHS EiEk

BREE1ET

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at end of the year or at any time during the year.

As at 31 March 2018, all subsidiaries of the Company are
direct wholly-owned. Accordingly, no details of material
non-controlling interests presented.

ERAARARMBRABDEERRERFER
FREEIBRASEEEFEZIERN &
ERR B EMMBARFEEBR TR

RERRFATMER SEMNEARESETH
WAREE 2 BERES-

RZFB-N\F=A=t+—HB ARFAMAHER
AYREEZERA R MR E KR
B 2 18 -
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34. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 4. KRR Z2HBEER
COMPANY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—F
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
ioka FB T FiET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WEREE - =
Investment in subsidiaries Rt B AR 2 RE 1 1
1 1
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, prepayments H b pE U RIA
and deposits ERRERES 49,046 67,016
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U B 8 X B R 342,781 950,466
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 1,718 10,893
393,545 1,028,375
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals EstEH 2,408 2,335
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A< BT B A B 3R IE 2,614 2,705
5,022 5,040
Net current asset REBEEFE 388,523 1,023,335
Net assets EEFE 388,524 1,023,336
Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Share capital A& < 112,883 112,883
Reserves (Note) & (Hraz) 275,641 910,453
Total equity ERAE 388,524 1,023,336
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved ARRAZHERRRER_E—NE~A=-_+=
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 June HESEef ERRENE TEBHTIATR
2018 and signed on its behalf by: ~EE:
CHAN Cheong Yee Fong On Shek
RE= F&EA
Director Director

EF EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,élrj_-\ ’é‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2018 #E—FT— N\F=A=1+—HILFE
34. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 4. KRR ZHBKEER (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Note: HiEt -
Movement in reserves during the year FANEEE
Share
Share options Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B’ 17 % E BRERE 25 EA Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET F&T
At 1 April 2016 R-ZT—A&EMA—A 852,221 - (2,393) 849,828
Loss and total comprehensive FABBERZERASEE
expenses for the year - - (2,029) (2,029)
Issue of shares under placing RIERERMETRG
of shares 63,920 - - 63,920
Transaction cost on placing BLERMN 2R HKA
of shares (1,661) - - (1,661)
Recognition of equity-settled TR LA M 2 A E IR T K
share-based payments - 395 - 395
At 31 March 2017 and R=Z—-tF=A=+—-H
at 1 April 2017 ER=-Z—tFMA—H 914,480 395 (4,422) 910,453
Loss and total comprehensive FABBERZERASEE
expenses for the year - - (636,815) (636,815)
Recognition of equity-settled RS EE DR
share-based payments - 2,003 - 2,003
Lapse of share options R AR R 3 - (395) 395 -

At 31 March 2018 R=-—ZE—-N\E=HA=+-—H 914,480 2,003 (640,842) 275,641
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B R B E &£ BH B R A

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31 March 2018 &iZ—Z—\F=HA=+—HILFE

IFEMBERE

Year ended 31 March
HE=ZA=T—HLFE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-Nf —ZT—+F —T—RE —T-HFE —T—NOF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHET FHT FHAT
RESULTS S
Revenue Yz 907 633 2,966 12,187 8,319
(Loss)/Profit before tax BRELRT (B1B) EH (1,128,214) 436,440 41,222 2,745 (93,408)
Income tax expenses SR A% 86,506 (80,676) (5,532) (2,553) (154)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to ENNGIEZ 2SN
owners of the Company [EiE (E8) /& (1,041,708) 355,764 35,690 192 (93,562)
Earnings/(Loss) per share SRERN (HE)
— Basic (HK cents) — AR (W) (46.14) 17.15 6.31 0.02 (71.19)
At 31 March
R=ZBA=+—H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\F —T—+F ZT-RF —T-HF —T—@NOF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FHT FHT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE 101,012 135,715 105,773 143,214 302,044
Current assets MEBEE 319,859 1,465,153 887,522 382,608 147,205
Current liabilities mEaRE (11,732) (72,571) (8,854) (1,145) (746)
Non-current liabilities FnEEE - (88,800) (8,104) (2,503) =
Shareholders’ fund BEES 409,139 1,439,497 976,337 522,174 448,503
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